PNWD-3512 WTP-RPT-117, Rev 0

Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching of Washed 241-SY-102 and 241-SX-101 Tank Sludges

B. M. Rapko J. G. H. Geeting S. I. Sinkov J. D. Vienna

October 2004

Prepared for Bechtel National, Inc. under Contract 24590-101-TSA-W000-00004

LEGAL NOTICE

This report was prepared by Battelle Memorial Institute (Battelle) as an account of sponsored research activities. Neither Client nor Battelle nor any person acting on behalf of either:

MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, with respect to the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of the information contained in this report, or that the use of any information, apparatus, process, or composition disclosed in this report may not infringe privately owned rights; or

Assumes any liabilities with respect to the use of, or for damages resulting from the use of, any information, apparatus, process, or composition disclosed in this report.

Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by Battelle. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of Battelle.



Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching of Washed 241-SY-102 and 241-SX-101 Tank Sludges

B. M. Rapko J. G. H. Geeting S. I. Sinkov J. D. Vienna

October 2004

Test specification: 24590-PTF-TSP-RT-03-003, Rev 0 Test plan: TP-RPP-WTP-275, Rev. 0 Test exceptions: 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-03-079 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-04-00013 R&T focus area: Pretreatment & Vitrification

Test Scoping Statement(s): B-89

10/26/04 ter W. Tanosatic

Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division Richland, Washington 99352

PROJECT USE

ACCEPTED FOR

Completeness of Testing

This report describes the results of work and testing specified by Test Specification 24590-PTF-TSP-RT-03-003, Rev 0 and Test Plan TP-RPP-WTP-275 Rev. 0 as modified by R&T Test Exception number 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-03-079 and 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-04-00013. The work and any associated testing followed the quality assurance requirements outlined in the Test Specification/Plan. The descriptions provided in this test report are an accurate account of both the conduct of the work and the data collected. Test plan results are reported. Also reported are any unusual or anomalous occurrences that are different from expected results. The test results and this report have been reviewed and verified.

Approved:

Gordon H. Beeman, Manager WTP R&T Support Project

Contents

	2		
		S	
Sum 1.0		of Testing duction	
1.0	muo		1.1
	1.1	Background	1.2
	1.2	Recent Developments in Alkaline Chromium Chemistry Relevant to Hanford Tank Wast	es 1.5
	1.3	Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching Studies with Hanford Tank Wastes	1.7
	1.4	Permanganate Oxidations of Hanford Tank Sludge	1.13
	1.5	Permanganate Oxidations in Alkaline Solution	1.14
2.0	Expe	erimental Testing Design and Procedure	
	2.1	Chromium Leach Reagent Preparation and General Experimental Information	2.1
	2.2	Description of the SY-102 and SX-101 Sludge Samples	2.2
	2.3	Initial Sludge Washing	2.3
	2.4	Subdivision of the Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.5
	2.5	Initial Caustic Leaching of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.5
	2.6	Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing of SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.6
	2.7	Final Caustic Leaching of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.7
	2.8	Glass Volume Estimation	2.7
		2.8.1 Compliance and Processing Conditions	
		2.8.2 Glass-Composition and Property Constraints	
	2.9	Glass Formulation Calculations	2 1 2
3.0		Its and Discussion	
5.0	Rest		
	3.1	ICP-AES and Radiochemical Analysis of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Sludge Solids	3.1
	3.2	Analysis of the SY-102 and SX-101 Solids by XRD	3.1
	3.3	SEM/EDS Analysis of the SY-102 and SX-101 solids	3.3
		3.3.1 SY-102 Washed Solids	
		3.3.2 SX-101 Washed Solids	3.7

	3.4	Oxidative Leach Testing—Experimental Design and Execution	3.9
	3.5	Dissolution of Non-Radioactive Components	3.11
		3.5.1 Chromium Dissolution and Chromate Formation	3.12
	3.6	Radionuclide Dissolution	3.15
	3.7	Glass Volumes or Immobilization of SX-101 and SY-102 Sludge as a Function of	
		Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching	3.17
4.0	Sum	nary and Conclusions	4.1
Appe	endix	A: Leach Factors from SX-101 Testing	A.1
Appe	endix	B: Leach Factors from SY-102 Testing	B.1

Figures

1.1	Pourbaix Diagram for Aqueous Chromium at 25°C Considering Cr(OH) ₃	1.2
1.2	Cr(VI) Speciation in Aqueous Solution as a Function of pH and Chromium Concentration	1.3
1.3	Cr(III) Solubility and Speciation in Aqueous Solution	1.4
1.4	Cr(III) Speciation in Aqueous Alkaline Solutions	1.4
1.5	Chromium Hydroxide Solubility as Ambient and Elevated Temperature	1.7
1.6	Dissolution of Chromium and ^{239,240} Pu from 241-SY-101 Tank Waste During Ozonolysis Under Alkaline Conditions	1.8
1.7	Pourbaix Diagram for Aqueous Manganese at 25°C	1.15
2.1	Results from the Calibration of UV-vis Spectrometer at 372 nm Against Standard Chromate Solutions	2.2
3.1	XRD Measurement (top) and Identified Pattern (bottom) for Washed SY-102 Sludge Solids	3.2
3.2	XRD Measurement (top) and Identified Pattern (bottom) for Washed SX-101 Sludge Solids	3.3
3.3	SEM Image of the SY-102 Particle Used for EDS Map	3.4
3.4	EDS Map of SY-102 Particle	3.4
3.5	Expanded View of SY-102 Particle	3.5
3.6	EDS Analysis of Figure 3.5 (Box 2)	3.5
3.7	Aluminum-Rich Particle in Washed SY-102 Sludge	3.6
3.8	SEM of SX-101 Particle and Region Examined by EDS	3.7
3.9	EDS Spectrum for SX-101 Particle	3.7
3.10	EDS Mapping of Major Observed Components in the SX-101 Particle	3.8
3.11	Chromate Formation During Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching of Washed SX-101 Sludge	3.14
3.12	Chromate Formation During Oxidative Alkaline Leaching of Washed SY-102 Sludge	3.14
3.13	Rate of Plutonium Dissolution in Oxidative-Alkaline Leachate Solutions Contacted with Washed SX-101 Sludge Solids	3.16

3.14	Rates of Plutonium Dissolution in Oxidative-Alkaline Leachate Solutions Contacted with Washed SY-102 Sludge Solids	3.17
3.15	Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Washed Sludge—All Data	3.19
3.16	Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Leached Sludge—All Data	3.20
3.17	Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Washed Sludge-Selected Data	3.21
3.18	Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Leached Sludge-Selected Data	3.22

Tables

S.1	Targeted Experimental Conditions for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing	xx
S.2	Major Component Removal from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed-Sludges by Oxidative- Alkaline Leaching	xx
S.3	Radionuclide Removals from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed Sludges by Oxidative- Alkaline Leaching	xxi
S.4	Calculated Effectiveness of Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching on IHLW Volumes	xxi
1.1	Cr(III)/Cr(VI) Compositions in Hanford Tank Sludges Before and After Caustic Leaching	1.5
1.2	Summary of Chromium Phase Information in Hanford Tank Sludges	1.6
1.3	Summary of PNNL Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching with Washed Hanford Tank Sludges	1.9
1.4	Alkaline Leaching in Air with Extended Contact Times	1.11
1.5	Summary of Existing Experimental Results of Permanganate Leaching of Hanford Tank Sludges	1.13
2.1	Description of SY-102 Sludge Composite	2.3
2.2	Initial Analytical Sampling of Washed Sludges	2.4
2.3	Second Analytical Sampling of Washed SY-102 Sludge	2.4
2.4	ICP-AES Determined Composition of Major Components in Dilute Hydroxide-Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.4
2.5	Concentrations of the Major, Identified Radionuclides in Dilute Hydroxide-Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids	2.5
2.6	Sub-Sampling of Washed SX-101 and SY-102 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing	2.5

2.7	Targeted Experimental Conditions for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing	2.6
2.8	Summary of Model Coefficients Used to Estimate Constrained Glass Properties	2.10
2.9	Glass-Composition and Property Constraints Used for Glass-Formulation Optimization	2.12
2.10	Mass Fractions and Uncertainty Ranges of Oxides in Each GFC	2.14
3.1	Data Output from EDS analysis of Figure 3.5 (Box 2)	3.6
3.2	Data for EDS of SX-101 Particle	3.8
3.3	Sub-Sampling of Washed SY-102 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing	3.9
3.4	Sub-Sampling of Washed SX-101 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing	3.10
3.5	Added Reagents in Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching Setup (assuming 4 ml sludge)	3.11
3.6	Major Component Removal from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed-Sludges by Oxidative- Alkaline Leaching	3.12
3.7	Chromate Versus Total Chromium Comparison in Washed SX-101 and SY-102 Alkaline Leach Solutions	3.13
3.8	Radionuclide Removals from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed Sludges by Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching	3.15
3.9	Calculated Effectiveness of Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching on IHLW Volumes	3.18
3.10	TRU Content of ILAW for Various Leachate Solutions	3.23
4.1	Aluminum, Chromium and Iron Concentrations in Washed SX-101 and SY-102 Sludges Following Oxidative Alkaline Leaching	4.2

Acronyms

ALOAnalytical Laboratory OperationsASTMAmerican Society for Testing and MaterialsCCDcharge-coupled deviceCIconfidence intervalCLconfidence intervalCLconfidence levelCUFcells unit filterDOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment PlantXRDX- Ray Diffraction	AEA	Alpha Energy Analysis
CCDcharge-coupled deviceCIconfidence intervalCLconfidence levelCUFcells unit filterDOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	ALO	Analytical Laboratory Operations
CIconfidence intervalCLconfidence levelCUFcells unit filterDOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyHLWimmobilized high-level wasteCAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	ASTM	American Society for Testing and Materials
CLconfidence levelCUFcells unit filterDOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroot mean squared errorSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	CCD	charge-coupled device
CUFcells unit filterDOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWIow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	CI	confidence interval
DOEU.S. Department of EnergyEDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	CL	confidence level
EDSEnergy-Dispersive SpectroscopyGEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	CUF	cells unit filter
GEAGamma Energy AnalysisGFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
GFCglass-forming chemicalHLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	EDS	Energy-Dispersive Spectroscopy
HLRFHigh-Level Radiochemistry FacilityHLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	GEA	Gamma Energy Analysis
HLWhigh-level wasteICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	GFC	glass-forming chemical
ICDDInternational Centre for Diffraction DataICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUttransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	HLRF	High-Level Radiochemistry Facility
ICP-AESInductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission SpectroscopyIHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	HLW	high-level waste
IHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	ICDD	International Centre for Diffraction Data
IHLWimmobilized high-level wasteLAWlow- activity wasteORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	ICP-AES	Inductively Coupled Plasma- Atomic Emission Spectroscopy
ORPOffice of River ProtectionPCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	IHLW	
PCTProduct Consistency TestPNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	LAW	low- activity waste
PNWDBattelle—Pacific Northwest DivisionRCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	ORP	Office of River Protection
RCRAResource Conservation and Recovery ActRMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	РСТ	Product Consistency Test
RMSEroot mean squared errorRPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	PNWD	Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division
RPPRiver Protection ProjectRTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
RTroom temperatureSALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	RMSE	root mean squared error
SALShielded Analytical LaboratorySCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	RPP	River Protection Project
SCIsimultaneous confidence intervalSEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	RT	room temperature
SEMScanning Electron MicroscopySORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	SAL	Shielded Analytical Laboratory
SORWTSort on Radioactive Waste TypeTCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	SCI	simultaneous confidence interval
TCLPToxicity Characteristic Leaching ProcedureTEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	SEM	Scanning Electron Microscopy
TEM-EDTransition Electron Microscopy-Electron DiffractionTOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	SORWT	Sort on Radioactive Waste Type
TOCtotal organic carbonTRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	TCLP	Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure
TRUtransuranicUV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	TEM-ED	Transition Electron Microscopy-Electron Diffraction
UV-visultraviolet-visibleWAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	TOC	total organic carbon
WAPSWaste Acceptance Product SpecificationWLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	TRU	transuranic
WLwaste loadingWTPWaste Treatment Plant	UV-vis	ultraviolet-visible
WTP Waste Treatment Plant	WAPS	Waste Acceptance Product Specification
	WL	waste loading
XRDX- Ray Diffraction	WTP	Waste Treatment Plant
	XRD	X- Ray Diffraction

References

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 1998. "Standard Test Methods for Determining Chemical Durability of Nuclear, Hazardous, and Mixed Waste Glasses: The Product Consistency Test (PCT)." C1285-97. In *1998 Annual Book of ASTM Standards* Vol. 12.01, West Conshohocken, PA.

Blanchard DL Jr., SD Conradson, NJ Hess, and PK Melethil. 1995. *Summary Component Speciation: Summary Final Report*. TWRSPP-95-048, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Blanchard DL Jr., BM Rapko, and SD Conradson. 1997. *Chromium Oxidation State Distribution in Hanford Tank Sludges: Results of FY 1997 Studies*. Letter Report to JS Garfield, Numatec Hanford Corporation, Richland, WA.

Certa PJ, TM Hohl, AM Johnson, SL Orcutt, RS Whitman, and D-S Kim. 2004. Sensitivity of Hanford Immobilized High-Level Waste Glass Mass to Chromium and Aluminum Partitioning Assumptions. RPP-20003, Rev 0, CH2MHill Hanford Group, Inc. Richland, WA.

Clarke K. 2003. *Engineering Specification for HLW Melters*. 24590-HLW-3PS-AE00-T0001, Rev. 2, Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant Project, Richland, WA.

Cook J, and D Blumenkranz. 2003. *Data Quality Objectives Process in Support of LDR/Delisting at the WTP*. 24590-WTP-RPT-ENV-01-012, Rev. 2, River Protection Project, Waste Treatment Plant, Richland, WA.

Delegard CH, AM Stubbs, and SD Bolling. 1993. *Laboratory Testing of Ozone Oxidation of Hanford Site Waste from Tank 241-SY-101*. WHC-EP-0701, Westinghouse Hanford Company, Richland, WA.

Delegard CH. 1995. *Calcination/Dissolution Chemistry Development Fiscal Year 1995*. WHC-EP-0882, Westinghouse Hanford Company, Richland, WA.

DOE/ORP, see U.S. Department of Energy/Office of River Protection.

Friese JI, B Ritherdon, SB Clark, Z Zhang, L Rao, and D Rai. 2002. "Chromatographic Separation and Characterization of Hydrolyzed Cr(III) Species." *Anal. Chem.* 74:2977-2984.

Gan H, Z Feng, and IL Pegg. 2004. *Summary and Recommendations on Viscosity and Conductivity Model Forms to Support HLW Vitrification*. VSL-04L4780-1, Rev. 0 (24590-101-TSA-W000-0009-72-00011), Vitreous State Laboratory, The Catholic University of America, Washington, D.C.

Gauger AM, and RT Hallen. 2001. "Individual Reactions of Permanganate and Various Reductants." *J. Undergraduate Research* 1:54.

Gordon AJ, and RA Ford. 1972. The Chemist's Companion. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., NY.

Greenwood NN and A Earnshaw. 1984. Chemistry of the Elements. Pergamon Press, NY.

Hill JG, GS Anderson, and BC Simpson. 1995. *The Sort on Radioactive Waste Type Model: A Method to Sort Single-Shell Tanks into Characteristic Groups*. NL-9814 Rev. 2, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Hrma P, GF Piepel, MJ Schweiger, DE Smith, D-S Kim, PE Redgate, JD Vienna, CA LoPresti, DB Simpson, DK Peeler, and MH Langowski. 1994. *Property/Composition Relationships for Hanford High-Level Waste Glasses Melting at 1150°C*. PNL-10359, Vol. 1 and 2, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Jantzen CM, NE Bibler, DC Beam, CL Crawford, and MA Pickett. 1993. *Characterization of the Defense Waste* Processing *Facility (DWPF) Environmental Assessment (EA) Glass Standard Reference Material*, WSRC-TR-92-346, Rev. 1, Westinghouse Savannah River Company, Aiken, SC.

Jeffery GH, J Bassett, J Mendham, and RC Denney. 1989. Vogel's Textbook of Quantitative Chemical Analysis, 5th edition. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., NY.

Kot WK, and IL Pegg. 2001. *Glass Formulation and Testing With RPP-WTP HLW Simulants*. VSL-01R2540-2 (24590-101-TSA-W000-0010-06-04A), Vitreous State Laboratory, Washington, D.C.

Kot WK, and IL Pegg. 2001. *Glass Formulation and Testing With RPP-WTP HLW Simulants*. VSL-01R2540-2 (24590-101-TSA-W000-0010-06-04A), Vitreous State Laboratory, Washington, D.C.

Kot WK, K Klatt, H Gan, IL Pegg, SK Cooley, DJ Bates, and GF Piepel. 2003. *Regulatory Testing of RPP-WTP HLW Glasses for Compliance with Delisting Requirements*. VSL-03R3780-1, Rev. 0, Vitreous State Laboratory, The Catholic University of America, Washington, D.C.

Krot NN, VP Shilov, AM Fedoseev, NA Budantseva, MV Nikonov, AB Yusov, A Yu Garnov, IA Charushnikova, VP Perminov, LN Astafurova, TS Lapitskaya, and VI Makarenkov. 1999. *Development of Alkaline Oxidative Dissolution Methods for Chromium(III) Compounds Present in Hanford Site Tank Sludge*. PNNL-12209, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lilga MA, RT Hallen, KM Boettcher, TR Hart, and DS Muzatko. 2003. *Assessment of the Sr/TRU Removal Precipitation Reaction Mechanisms Using Waste Simulant Solutions*. PNWD-3263, Battelle— Pacific Northwest Division, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ and JL Swanson. 1993. Pretreatment of Plutonium Finishing Plant (PFP) Sludge: Report for the Period October 1990 - March 1992. PNL-8601, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ, KJ Carson, LP Darnell, LR Greenwood, FV Hoopes, RL Sell, SI Sinkov, CZ Soderquist, MW Urie, and JJ Wagner. 2001. *Caustic Leaching of Hanford Tank S-110 Sludge*. PNNL-13702, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ, LP Darnell, PA Garza, LR Greenwood, BM Oliver, DE Rinehart, DR Sanders, CZ Soderquist, T Trang-Le, MW Urie and JJ Wagner. 2002. *Caustic Leaching of Hanford Tank T-110 Sludge*. PNNL-13956, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ, BM Rapko, J Liu, DJ Temer, and RD Hunt. 1998a. *Washing and Caustic Leaching of Hanford Tank Sludges: Results of FY 1998 Studies*. PNNL-12026, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ, BM Rapko, J Liu, and DJ Temer. 1998b. "Enhanced Sludge Washing for Pretreating Hanford Tank Sludges." In: *Science and Technology for Disposal of Radioactive Tank Wastes*. WW Schulz, and NJ Lombard, eds., Plenum Press, NY.

Lumetta GJ, BM Rapko, P Sylvester, LA Rutherford, Jr, A Gonzalez-Martin, and J Kim. 2000. "Leaching Methods for Pretreating Hanford Tank Sludges." In: *The proceedings from WM2000*, Tucson, AZ, February 27–March 2, 2000.

Lumetta GJ, IE Burgeson, MJ Wagner, J Liu, and YL Chen. 1997. *Washing and Caustic Leaching of Hanford Tank Sludges: Results of FY 1997 Studies*. PNNL-11636, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Lumetta GJ, JL Swanson, and SA Barker. 1995. "Process Chemistry for the Pretreatment of Hanford Tank Wastes." *Chemical Pretreatment of Nuclear Waste for Disposal*. W. W. Schulz and E. P. Horwitz, eds., Plenum Press, NY.

Lumetta GJ, BM Rapko, and HM Cho. 2003. "Studies of the Fundamental Chemistry of Hanford Tank Sludges." In: *Proceedings of ICEM '03: The 9th International Conference on Radioactive Waste Management and Environmental Remediation*, Oxford, England, in press.

Manjanna J and G Venkateswaran. 2002. "Effect of Oxidative Pretreatment for the Dissolution of Cr-Substituted Hermatites/Magnetites." *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* 41:3053-3063.

Muller IS, G Diener, I Joseph, and IL Pegg. 204. "Proposed Approach for Development of LAW Glass Formulation Correction." VSL-04L3360-1, Vitreous State Laboratory, The Catholic University of America, Washington, DC 20064.

Nelson J. 2003. *IHLW Product Compliance Plan*. 24590-WTP-PL-RT-03-002 Rev 0, River Protection Project, Waste Treatment Plant, Richland, WA.

Orme RM, AF Manuel, LW Shelton, and EJ Slaathaug. 1996. *Tank Waste Remediation System Privatization Process Technical Baseline*. WHC-SD-WM-TI-774, Westinghouse Hanford Company, Richland, WA.

Perez JM, DF Bickford, DE Day, D-S Kim, SL Lambert, SL Marra, DK Peeler, DM Strachan, MB Triplett, JD Vienna, and RS Wittman. 2001. *High-Level Waste Melter Study Report*. PNNL-13582, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Peters RD, and K Casassa. 2003. *System Description for System HMP, HLW Melter, Pour Spout, and Canister Level Detection*. 24590-HLW-3YD-HMP-00001, Rev. 0, Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant Project, Richland, WA.

Piepel GF, and SK Cooley. 2003. Interim Report: Statistical Assessment of Preliminary Property-Composition Data and Models for IHLW PCT and TCLP. WTP-RPT-045, Rev. 2, Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division, Richland, WA.

Pourbaix M. 1974. Atlas of Electrochemical Equilibria in Aqueous Solutions. NACE, Houston, TX.

Rai D, M Sass, and DA Moore. 1987. "Chromium(III) Hydrolysis Constants and Solubility of Chromium(III Hydroxide)." *Inorg. Chem.* 26:345-349.

Rai D, NJ Hess, L Rao, Z Zhang, AR Felmy, DA Moore, SB Clark, and GJ Lumetta. 2002. "Thermodynamic Model for the Solubility of Cr(OH)₃(am) in Concentrated NaOH and NaOH-NaNO₃ Solutions." *J. Soln. Chem.* 31:343-367. Rao L, Z Zhang, JI Friese, B Ritherdon, SB Clark, NJ Hess, and D Rai. 2002. "Oligomerization of chromium(III) and its impact on the oxidation of chromium(III) by hydrogen peroxide in alkaline solutions." *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans.* 267-274.

Rapko BM and GJ Lumetta. 2000. *Status Report on Phase Identification in Hanford Tank Sludges*. PNNL-13394, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM. 1998. Oxidative Dissolution of Chromium from Hanford Tank Sludges: Results of FY 98 Studies. PNNL-11908, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, CH Delegard, and MJ Wagner. 1997. Oxidative Dissolution of Chromium from Hanford Tank Sludges Under Alkaline Conditions. PNNL-11571, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, DL Blanchard, NG Colton, AR Felmy, J Liu, and GJ Lumetta. 1996a. *The Chemistry of Sludge Washing and Caustic Leaching Processes for Selected Hanford Tank Wastes*. PNNL-11089, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, GJ Lumetta, and MJ Wagner. 1996b. Oxidative Dissolution of Chromium from Hanford Tank Sludges Under Alkaline Conditions. PNNL-11233, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, JD Vienna, SI Sinkov, J Kim, and AJ Cisar. 2002. Alkaline Leaching of Key, Non-Radioactive Components from Simulants and Hanford Tank Sludge 241-S-110: Results of FY01 Studies. PNNL-14018, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, and JD Vienna. 2002. *Selected Leaching of Chromium from Hanford Tank Sludge 241-U-108.* PNNL-14019, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Rapko BM, and JD Vienna. 2003. *Selected Leaching of Chromium from Washed 241-2-110 Hanford Tank Sludge*. Separation Science and Technology, in press.

Sederburg JP. 2003. *Hanford Tank Waste Oxidative Leach Behavior Analysis*. RPP-15552, CH2M Hill Hanford Group, Inc., Richland WA.

Segal MG, and WJ Williams. 1986. "Kinetics of Metal Oxide Dissolution. Oxidative Dissolution of Chromium(III) Oxide by Potassium Permanganate." J. Chem. Soc. Faraday Trans. 1, 82:3245-3254.

Sylvester P, LA Rutherford, Jr, A Gonzalez-Martin, J Kim, BM Rapko, and GJ Lumetta. 2001. "Ferrate Treatment for Removing Chromium from High-Level Radioactive Tank Waste." *Environ. Sci. Tech.* 35:216-221.

Timmanagoudar PL, GA Hiremath, and ST Nandibewoor. 1997. "Permanganate oxidation of chromium(III) in aqueous alkaline medium: a kinetic study by the stopped-flow technique." *Transition Met. Chem.* 22:193-196.

Townson PS. 2003. "Ultrafiltration and Washing/Leaching of Hanford Tank 241-SY-102 Waste." 24590-PTF-TSP-RT-03-003, Rev 0, Bechtel Hanford Company, Richland, WA.

U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Environmental Management (DOE-EM). 1996. *Waste Acceptance Product Specifications for Vitrified High-Level Waste Form*. EM-WAPS Rev. 2, Washington, D.C.

U.S. Department of Energy, Office of River Protection (DOE-ORP). 2000. *Design, Construction, and Commissioning of the Hanford Tank Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant*. Contract DE-AC27-01RV14136, Modification A029, Richland WA, as amended.

U.S. Department of Energy/Office or River Protection (DOE/ORP). 2001. *River Protection Project - Project Management Plan*. DOE/ORP-2000-06, Richland, WA. Available at: http://www.hanford.gov/orp/content.cfm?sn=142&parent=0&pageid=205.

Vienna JD, P Hrma, JV Crum, and M Mika. 2001. "Liquidus Temperature-composition Model for Multi-component Glasses in the Fe, Cr, Ni, and Mn Spinel Primary Phase Field." *J. Non-cryst. Sol.*, 292:1-24.

Vienna, JD, DS. Kim, and P Hrma. 2002. *Database and Interim Glass Property Models for Hanford HLW and LAW Glasses*. PNNL-14060, Pacific Northwest National Laboratory, Richland, WA.

Vienna JD, SK Cooley, JV Crum, TB Edwards, J Matyas, DK Peeler, GF Piepel, and DE Smith. 2003. *Liquidus Temperature Testing and Model Evaluation Results*. WTP-RPT-085, Rev. 0 (24590-101-TSA-W000-0004-129-03), Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division, Richland, WA.

Summary of Testing

Objectives

Significant experimental work has been conducted on the ultrafiltration process as part of the effort to immobilize waste at the Hanford Site in Washington State. This process includes the washing and caustic leaching of waste solids. Results of earlier testing have shown that caustic leaching does not remove enough chromium from the waste such that its presence in the sludges in certain tanks limits possible sludge loading in immobilized high-level waste (IHLW). Thus, there is a need to remove additional chromium from certain HLW sludges by an alternative method to improve waste loadings. The Waste Treatment Plant (WTP) contractor (Bechtel National Inc.) has been directed by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) to evaluate methods for oxidative leaching of chromium from sludge wastes. There is a need to determine feasibility, appropriate methodology, and specific implementation of the chromium leach process. A test specification was generated by Bechtel to address this need (Townson 2003).

This report describes activities covered under the Waste Treatment Support Project test plan TP-RPP-WTP-275, Rev. 0. These activities were designed to evaluate the process variables of time, temperature, and the sequence of caustic-leach/oxidative-alkaline leach contacts through bench scale testing of 241-SY-102 and 241-SX-101 (hereafter referred to as SY-102 and SX-101) sludges. The existing literature related to oxidative-alkaline leaching of chromium was initially reviewed to limit testing to those conditions that are the most likely to be successful for use in the WTP. Based on that review, permanganate was recommended as the reagent of choice for these tests. Also from the review, a side reaction was identified that might interfere with the permanganate reaction: consumption of permanganate by the oxidation of formate and residual organic species (complexants/extractant/solvents and aging/degradation products). The testing described in this report uses well-washed sludges and does not address any potential impact from such residual organic species.

Test Objective	Objective Met (Y/N)	Discussion
1. Review available data in the literature and recommend a process for caustic and/or oxidative leaching of the high chromium bearing tank waste.	Y	Waste Treatment Support Project test plan TP-RPP-WTP- 275, Rev. 0 provides a literature review and recommendation for testing of caustic and/or oxidative leaching of the high chromium-bearing tank wastes from washed SY-102 and SX-101 tank sludges. An update of that literature review of prior relevant research related to oxidative-alkaline leaching is located in the Introduction section.
2. Perform testing of alkaline oxidative leaching of the high chromium-bearing tank waste with permanganate as set forth in task plan TP-RPP-WTP-260. A literature review of alkaline and	Y	The bench scale testing of oxidative alkaline leaching was performed as described in TP-RPP-WTP-275 as modified by Test Exceptions 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-04-00013 and 24590-WTP-TEF-RT-03-079. Based on the literature review of alkaline and oxidative leaching previously mentioned and reported in the introduction section,

The specific objectives of the work described in this report are to:

	Objective	
Test Objective	Met (Y/N)	Discussion
oxidative leaching has been		experiments were performed to evaluate the conditions of
completed, and the recommended		time and temperature and leach sequence on oxidative-
process is repeated in that task		alkaline leaching of permanganate (the optimum oxidant
plan and will be repeated in the		based on the conclusion in the literature review) on washed
final report for this task.		SY-102 and SX-101 Hanford tank sludges.
Evaluate and report the optimum		
conditions of time, temperature,		Specifically, the initial washed solids were analyzed for
sequence of caustic leaching and		bulk metal concentrations by inductively coupled plasma-
oxidative alkaline leaching, and		atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES), and the
oxidant.		concentrations of selected radionuclides were determined
		by gamma energy analysis (GEA) and alpha energy
		analysis (AEA). The identity of crystalline phases in these
		washed tank solids was evaluated by X-ray diffraction
		analysis, and the distribution of major elements in the
		sludge were evaluated by scanning electron microscopy-
		energy- dispersive spectroscopy (SEM-EDS) analysis.
		Table S.1 below summarizes the oxidative leach conditions
		tested. The results from the major non-radionuclides
		removed are summarized below in Table S.2, and
		radionuclide removal is summarized below in Table S.3.
		Analysis of the actual leachate solutions suggests that the
		bulk of the chromate formed during oxidative-alkaline
		leaching is formed within the first 6 hours. ICP-AES
		analysis and visible spectrophotometric analysis of the final
		combined leachate and wash solutions indicates that in
		almost all cases, all of the dissolved chromium is present as
		chromate. In only one of the 12 tests does the analyzed
		total chromium concentration exceed that of the analyzed
		chromate concentration. The 20% excess chromium to
		chromate is only slightly greater than the 15% uncertainty
		in the chromium concentration determined by ICP-AES.
		The plutonium concentration in the leachate solutions
		increased as a function of time, although the extent of
		plutonium removal is markedly less than that of either
		aluminum or chromium, and the absolute concentrations
		are such that no oxidative leach solution nor any
		immobilized low-activity waste (ILAW) generated from the
		leachate solutions themselves exceeded the transuranic
		(TRU) limit of 100 nCi/g.
		The effectiveness of the various leach conditions was
		evaluated by considering the amount of glass that would be
		required to immobilize a given amount of washed sludge

	Objective				
Test Objective	Met (Y/N)				
		solids. Table S.4 below summarizes the results of those			
		calculations.			
3. Provide a recommendation for	Y	Based on an evaluation of these experimental results as			
larger scale testing of oxidative- alkaline leaching in the Cells		presented in Tables S.2 through S.4, it appears that performing the oxidative-alkaline leach at 85°C provides			
Unit Filter (CUF) device.		the best performance, both in the effectiveness of			
		aluminum and chromium removal as well as maximizing			
		waste loadings in IHLW glass. Indeed, these conditions are			
		effective enough to alter the limiting component in waste			
		loading from chromium in the washed solids to manganese.			
		Consideration of Table S.3 allows for further refinement of			
		the optimum oxidative-alkaline leach conditions.			
		However, if the oxidative-alkaline leach is performed at			
		high hydroxide concentrations, marked enhancement in			
		plutonium dissolution is observed. This implies that a			
		sequential caustic leach at 85°C, 3 M NaOH, together with			
		a permanganate leach at low hydroxide, is a more robust			
		approach. Although performing the caustic leach following			
		the oxidative-alkaline leach provides slightly superior			
		performance as measured by waste loading in IHLW glass,			
		a slight enhancement in plutonium dissolution is also observed. The reason for this is not completely clear, but			
		the data suggest that some plutonium precipitation occurs			
		following consumption of the oxidant and/or cooling of the			
		leachate solution. This freshly precipitated plutonium then			
		may be more rapidly dissolved during a subsequent caustic			
		leach. For these reasons, sequential leach contacts of 3 M			
		NaOH/85°C followed by an oxidative-alkaline leach with			
		stoichiometric or with a slight excess of permanganate			
		provide the best compromise between minimizing			
		plutonium dissolution and maximizing aluminum and			
		chromium dissolution. However, should maximum			
		aluminum and chromium removal be desired, reversing the			
		order of the oxidative alkaline leach and caustic leach may			
		prove to be superior – both leach sequences appear			
		promising enough to be investigated in a larger scale			
		demonstration.			

Sample Number	Prior NaOH Leach?	Post NaOH Leach?	Oxidative Leach [NaOH] _{initial} , M	Oxidative Leach Temp. °C	Oxidative Leach [NaMnO ₄] _{initial} /[Cr]
Tank#-1	No	No	3	85	1.1
Tank#-2	No	No	5	85	5
Tank#-3	Yes	No	0.25	25	1.1
Tank#-4	Yes	No	0.25	85	1.1
Tank#-5	No	Yes	0.25	25	1.1
Tank#-6	No	Yes	0.25	85	1.1

Table S.1. Targeted Experimental Conditions for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing

Table S.2. Major Component Removal from SX-101 and SY-102Washed-Sludges by Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching

	% Component Removal					
Test #	Al	Cr	Fe	Mn	Si	U
SX-101-1	96	96	< 0.1	0	42	0
SX-101-2	96	66	0.3	0	43	0
SX-101-3	83	87	0.3	0	46	0
SX-101-4	89	94	0.3	0	50	0
SX-101-5	97	65	0.6	0	55	0
SX-101-6	97	97	0.3	0.2	67	0
SY-102-1	86	94	< 0.1	0	17	0
SY-102-2	88	46	< 0.1	0	22	0
SY-102-3	76	80	0.1	0	32	0
SY-102-4	78	95	0.2	0	36	0
SY-102-5	94	75	0.2	0	31	0
SY-102-6	89	96	< 0.1	0	28	0

	% Component Removal							
Test	^{239,240} Pu	²⁴¹ Am	^{243,244} Cm	Total α	⁶⁰ Co	¹³⁷ Cs	¹⁵⁴ Eu	
SX-101-1	13	< 0.01	< 0.01	3.2	< 0.01	27	< 0.01	
SX-101-2	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33	< 0.01	
SX-101-3	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33 ^(a)	< 0.01	
SX-101-4	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33 ^(a)	< 0.01	
SX-101-5	$1.1^{(a)}$	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.3 ^(a)	< 0.01	38	< 0.01	
SX-101-6	2.8 ^(a)	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.7 ^(a)	< 0.01	29	< 0.01	
SY-102-1	0.6	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.1	< 0.01	22	< 0.01	
SY-102-2	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	37	< 0.01	
SY-102-3	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	40 ^(a)	< 0.01	
SY-102-4	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	41 ^(a)	< 0.01	
SY-102-5	$< 0.1^{(a)}$	< 0.01	< 0.01	$< 0.1^{(a)}$	< 0.01	41 ^(a)	< 0.01	
SY-102-6	0.2 ^(a)	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1 ^(a)	< 0.01	37	< 0.01	
(a) Component fraction removed during standard caustic leach greater than that removed during oxidative- alkaline leaching.								

Table S.3. Radionuclide Removals from SX-101 and SY-102Washed Sludges by Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching

	Units of Gla	ss Produced/Unit Treate	d Sludge				
	(waste li	miting component/condi	tion)				
	TS-1.1	Current	Expanded				
Washed SX-101	$15.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$15.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$7.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
Caustic-Leached SX-101	$17.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$17.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$8.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
SX-101-1	$0.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.6(MnO = 7.0)	1.6(MnO = 7.0)				
SX-101-2	$5.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$5.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
SX-101-3	$2.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.2(MnO = 7.0)				
SX-101-4	$0.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.3(MnO = 7.0)	1.3(MnO = 7.0)				
SX-101-5	$1.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$1.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.4(MnO = 7.0)				
SX-101-6	$0.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.1(MnO = 7.0)	1.1(MnO = 7.0)				
Washed SY-102	$21.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$21.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$10.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
Caustic-Leached SY-102	$8.2(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$8.2(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$4.1(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
SY-102-1	$1.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.9(MnO = 7.0)	1.9(MnO = 7.0)				
SY-102-2	$13.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$13.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$6.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
SY-102-3	$4.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$4.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$				
SY-102-4	$1.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	2.0(MnO = 7.0)	2.0(MnO = 7.0)				
SY-102-5	$1.8(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.8(MnO = 7.0)	1.8(MnO = 7.0)				
SY-102-6	$0.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	2.1(MnO = 7.0)	2.1(MnO = 7.0)				
TS-1.1 = contract minimum loadings.							

Current = WTP baseline.

Expanded = using an expanded region of validity for glass-properties models.

Test Exceptions

Two test exceptions were generated during testing. They are described below.

List Test Exceptions	Describe Test Exceptions
24590-WTP-TEF-RT-03-079	The high concentrations of Cr in the washed sludges suggested that
	the effective reaction of permanganate with Cr might result in leach
	solution becoming unacceptably acidic. In addition, the high
	concentrations of Al may saturate the solutions with Al, with
	potential interference in Cr dissolution. The test exception takes
	these factors into account and redefines the experimental conditions
	to be examined. More specifically, 1) examination of excess versus
	stoichiometric permanganate for each hydroxide concentration was
	reduced and instead the impact of a separate caustic leach before or
	after low hydroxide oxidative alkaline leaching was added, and 2)
	the initial hydroxide concentrations in the low hydroxide tests are
	increased from 0.1 M NaOH to 0.25 M NaOH. These changes
	rework the focus from predominantly a look at a single leach step to
	sequential steps involving caustic leach and oxidative alkaline
	leaching.
24590-WTP-TEF-RT-04-00013	This test exception clarifies the nature of the dissolution process for
	analysis of the leached solids and removes selected analytes not
	available because of interferences from the dissolution process.
	These changes have no impact on the task objectives.

Results and Performance Against Success Criterion

Success Criterion	Explain How the Tests Did or Did Not Meet the Success Criterion				
Determination of leach	Tables S.2 and S.3 above provide the leach factors for the major bulk				
factors for the oxidative	metals and major radionuclides for oxidative-alkaline leaching of washed				
leach process.	SX-101 and SY-102 Hanford tank sludges in percentage form. Leach				
	factors for metals of low concentration, despite being analytes of interest,				
	even though available, are not reported in the body of the report but				
	rather are available in an Appendix, since these components have no				
	impact on the objective of this work, which is to provide a				
	recommendation for oxidative alkaline leach conditions.				

Quality Requirements

Application of RPP-WTP Quality Requirements:

PNWD implements the RPP-WTP quality requirements by performing work in accordance with the PNWD Waste Treatment Plant Support Project quality assurance project plan (QAPjP) approved by the RPP-WTP Quality Assurance organization. This work will be performed to the quality requirements of NQA-1-1989 Part I, Basic and Supplementary Requirements, and NQA-2a-1990, Part 2.7. These quality requirements are implemented through PNWD's *Waste Treatment Plant Support Project (WTPSP)*

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Manual. The analytical requirements are implemented through PNWD's *Conducting Analytical Work in Support of Regulatory Programs.* A matrix that cross-references the NQA-1 and 2a requirements with PNWD's procedures for this work is given in Appendix B of Test Plan TP-WTP-RPP-275. It includes justification for those requirements not implemented.

Conduct of Experimental and Analytical Work:

Experiments that are not method-specific shall be performed in accordance with PNWD's procedures QA-RPP-WTP-1101 "Scientific Investigations" and QA-RPP-WTP-1201 "Calibration Control System," ensuring that sufficient data are taken with properly calibrated measuring and test equipment (M&TE) to obtain quality results.

As specified by Townson (2003), BNI's QAPjP, PL-24590-QA00001, is not applicable since the work will not be performed in support of environmental/regulatory testing, and the data will not be used as such.

The applicable quality control (QC) parameters for chemical analysis are delineated in Tables A3 and A4 of Test Plan TP-WTP-RPP-275. The requirements for duplicate RPD were fulfilled with a replicate analysis for each analytical batch. Blank spike and/or lab control sample QC failures will result in re-analyzing the sample for the particular analyte for which the spike failed. Matrix spike and/or duplicate analysis QC failures will not result in reanalyzing the sample, but probable reasons for the failure will be discussed in the analytical report to be stored in the project files.

Additional equipment that was used included thermocouples and balances. The thermocouple was used to verify the heating block temperatures and was calibrated by PNWD Instrumentation Services and Technology. Balances are calibrated annually by a certified contractor, QC Services, Portland, Oregon.

Internal Data Verification and Validation:

PNWD addresses internal verification and validation activities by conducting an Independent Technical Review of the final data report in accordance with PNWD's procedure QA-RPP-WTP-604. This review verifies that the reported results are traceable, that inferences and conclusions are soundly based, and the reported work satisfies the Test Plan objectives. This review procedure is part of PNWD's *WTPSP Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Manual*.

The percent completeness for the analytes of interest will be calculated and reported according to the formula:

%C =
$$\left(\frac{N_p}{N_v}\right)$$
 X100 (S.1)

where %C is the percentage completeness, N_p is the total number of planned measurements, and N_v is the number of valid measurements as defined by the project.

The percent completeness was 100%.

R&T Test Conditions

List R&T Test Conditions	Were Test Conditions Followed?
Battelle shall prepare a test plan	Yes, Test Plan TP-RPP-WTP-275 was prepared to implement the
containing detailed information	oxidative alkaline leaching bench scale test portion of the test
needed to implement this test	specification. The client approved the test plan on 09/05/2003.
specification.	

Simulant Use

No simulants were used during testing.

Discrepancies and Follow-on Tests

Small changes were made in the test plan procedure. First, the volume of settled solids instead of the volume of centrifuged solids was used to determine the leachate volume. This was done because while the volume of the settled solids was fairly consistent at 4 ml/test, the volume of the centrifuged solids appeared to be more variable (an estimated 2 - 3 ml). Second, samples were agitated by rotary shaking instead of magnetic stirring. This was done to avoid the possibility of magnetic particles attaching to the magnetic stir bar. Neither of these changes should adversely impact the conclusions in this report.

The results from this testing lead to the following recommendations for further study or implementation of oxidative-alkaline leaching:

- That the possibility of selective precipitation of Pu from a permanganate-containing leach using standing caustic leach conditions be investigated. The leaching of Al and Cr is effective and if Pu can be selectivity precipitated under time effective and process-compatible conditions, adverse impacts due to the additional time required in successive leach contacts may be avoided.
- 2) That until a process and time-compatible Pu dissolution process is documented, further studies should focus on oxidative-alkaline leach conditions that combine a standard caustic leach (3 M, 85°C) with an independent oxidative-alkaline leach performed at a lower initial hydroxide concentration. Because of an observed discrepancy between the chromate concentration and total chromium by ICP-AES analysis, it remains unclear whether or not elevated temperatures are required for the oxidative-alkaline leach in an independent caustic leach/oxidative-alkaline leach sequence.
- 3) That any oxidative-alkaline leach be performed at temperature for at least 6 hours.
- 4) That a larger scale demonstration be performed to evaluate the order of the initial caustic leach and the oxidative-alkaline leach.
- 5) That this demonstration should monitor the chromate concentration in solution, the aluminum concentration, and the plutonium concentration as a function of leach contact times.
- 6) That the oxidation state of the dissolved plutonium should be evaluated.
- 7) That a further bench-scale test of test conditions #3, #4, #5 and #6 be performed with the washed SX-101 and SY-102 sludge under the previous conditions characterized by larger solution:solids volumes. This will allow the chromium leach factors (% component removed values) reported in Table S.2 above to be correlated with the earlier oxidative-alkaline leach testing.

1.0 Introduction

Currently, there are approximately 200,000 m³ of radioactive waste in the 177 underground storage tanks located at the U.S. Department of Energy's (DOE) Hanford Site. As part of the remediation efforts for these underground storage tanks, DOE plans to retrieve, pretreat, immobilize, and dispose of this radioactive waste. This tank waste is generally divided into three fractions: supernatant, saltcake, and sludge. The liquid supernatant is alkaline with high concentrations of salts such as sodium nitrate (NaNO₃), nitrite (NaNO₂), hydroxide (NaOH), carbonate (Na₂CO₃), phosphate (Na₃PO₄), and sulfate (Na₂SO₄). The saltcake is a solid phase consisting primarily of the above-mentioned components as precipitated salts. The sludge portion is a solid phase that consists primarily of precipitated metal oxides/hydroxides. The tank waste contains both mixed-fission products, such as ¹³⁷Cs, ⁹⁰Sr, and ⁹⁹Tc, and actinides, primarily uranium, plutonium, and americium. The actinides and ⁹⁰Sr are mostly found in the sludge layer while the ¹³⁷Cs and ⁹⁹Tc are partitioned amongst all three phases.

The tank wastes will be separated into high-level waste (HLW) and low-activity waste (LAW) fractions. The LAW will be processed to remove most of the dissolved radionuclides, with the remaining material being immobilized in a glass matrix. The HLW will be immobilized in a borosilicate glass and cast into stainless steel canisters. The stainless steel canisters will be ultimately disposed of by placement in a geologic repository (DOE/ORP 2001). Because of the expected high costs associated with HLW immobilization and disposal, pretreatment processes will be performed to reduce the volume of the immobilized HLW (IHLW).

Caustic leaching is the baseline method for pretreating Hanford tank sludges (Orme et al. 1996). Caustic leaching is expected to remove a large fraction of the aluminum, which is present in large quantities in Hanford tank sludges, by converting poorly soluble aluminum oxides/hydroxides to the more soluble sodium aluminate, NaAl(OH)₄. It is also expected that water-insoluble transition metal phosphates and sulfates will metathesize to their water-insoluble transition metal hydroxides and soluble Na₃PO₄ and Na₂SO₄. This will remove significant portions of phosphorus and sulfur, which are poorly tolerated in borosilicate glass, from these HLW solids.

Chromium too can interfere with the HLW immobilization process, in particular by increasing the liquidus temperature (T_L) of spinels ([Fe,Mn,Ni][Fe,Cr,Mn]₂O₄), by precipitating as eskolaite (Cr₂O₃), or by promoting molten salt (e.g., mixed alkali-sulfate, -chromate, -phosphate, -molybdate) segregation. For wastes with relatively high concentrations of Fe₂O₃ (> 5 mass% in glass) or NiO (> 0.5 mass% in glass), spinel precipitation is the most likely result. Spinel precipitation from the HLW glass could short the heating electrodes, clog the pour spout, or otherwise jeopardize the operation and life of the melter (Vienna et al. 2001). Relatively low concentrations of chromium in the HLW can promote spinel formation. Indeed, the chromium concentration in the high-level fraction of Hanford tank waste has the strongest influence on the volume of IHLW to be produced at Hanford (Certa et al. 2004; Perez et al. 2001; Hrma et al. 1994). For these reasons, minimizing the amount of residual chromium in selected Hanford tank sludges is an important pretreatment objective. This report describes work designed to examine pretreatment conditions for the selective removal of chromium from Hanford tank wastes from Tanks 241-SY-102 and 241-SX-101 (hereafter referred to as SY-102 and SX-101).

1.1 Background

The aqueous chemistry of chromium is dominated by species with the oxidation states Cr(III) and Cr(VI) (Greenwood and Earnshaw 1984). As illustrated by the Pourbaix diagram (Pourbaix 1974) below (Figure 1.1), in acidic solutions, the predominantly stable oxidation state is +3. In the absence of complexants, the +3 oxidation state for chromium exists as the aquo cation in acidic solution and as the tetrahydroxychromate(III) anion, $[Cr(OH)_4]^-$, in basic solution. In basic solution, chromium in the +6 oxidation state exists as the chromate anion, $[CrO_4]^{2-}$, and in acidic solution as the dichromate anion, $[Cr_2O_7]^{2-}$.

The simplest set of relationships that describe the equilibria between these oxidation states and the equilibrium between chromate and dichromate are given below by Equations 1.1 through 1.3 and are illustrated in Figure 1.2:



Figure 1.1. Pourbaix Diagram for Aqueous Chromium at 25°C Considering Cr(OH)₃. The a and b lines define the stability field for water itself.

$$CrO_4^{2-} + 3e^- + 8H^+ \implies Cr^{3+} + 4H_2O$$
 (1.1)

$$2CrO_4^{2-} + 2H^+ \implies Cr_2O_7^{2-} + H_2O$$
 (1.2)

$$CrO_4^{2-} + 3e^- + 4H_2O \implies Cr(OH)_4^- + 4OH^-$$
 (1.3)



Figure 1.2. Cr(VI) Speciation in Aqueous Solution as a Function of pH and Chromium Concentration (Pourbaix 1974)

From these equations and Figure 1.1 and Figure 1.2, the following point emerges. The likely form of chromium is Cr(VI), i.e., chromate, at the alkaline pHs likely to be encountered in sludge washing and leaching (pH 12 and above). In alkaline solution, strongly reducing solution conditions are required to generate Cr(III). In neutral or acidic conditions, the most thermodynamically stable form is Cr(III). An alternative description of this speciation is that Cr(VI) becomes a weaker oxidant as the pH of the aqueous solution increases.

The solubilities of these Cr(III) and Cr(VI) species in alkaline solution are quite different. Sodium chromate/dichromate is quite soluble over a wide range of pH, with concentrations of greater than 1 M readily achievable. The solubility of Cr(III) in neutral and slightly alkaline solutions has been investigated by Rai et al. (1987). This investigation revealed relatively low solubility for tetrahydroxychromate(III), [Cr(OH)₄]⁻, as compared to chromate, with no more than millimolar concentrations of chromium possible up to a pH of 14 (Figure 1.3). More recently, Rai et al. (2002) have investigated more concentrated hydroxide solutions and found that the Cr(III) concentrations in solution increase steadily as the hydroxide concentration increases and can reach concentrations of up to 0.01 to 0.1 M at very high hydroxide concentrations (Figure 1.4). In addition, it has been shown that at these



Figure 1.3. Cr(III) Solubility and Speciation in Aqueous Solution (Rai et al. 1987)



Figure 1.4. Cr(III) Speciation in Aqueous Alkaline Solutions (Rai et al. 2002)

higher hydroxide concentrations, Cr(III) was present both as mononuclear and polynuclear species (Freise et al. 2002), with the polynuclear species increasing in importance as the hydroxide concentration increased.

1.2 Recent Developments in Alkaline Chromium Chemistry Relevant to Hanford Tank Wastes

Studies on the speciation of chromium in actual Hanford tank sludges have indicated that chromium exists both in its +3 and +6 oxidation states, with the ratio of Cr(VI) to Cr(III) varying greatly depending on the sludge examined (Table 1.1). However, the dissolved chromium, regardless of its initial oxidation state in the sludge, was present in caustic-leach solutions (within experimental uncertainty) only in the +6 oxidation state (Rapko et al. 1996a; Blanchard et al. 1995; Blanchard et al. 1997). Furthermore, although the chromium remaining after caustic leaching is present only in the +3 oxidation state, the fraction of chromium removed often exceeds the amount initially present in the +6 oxidation state. These results imply that chromium initially present in the sludge in the +3 oxidation state underwent oxidation either during or after dissolution. The extent to which the Cr(III) fraction was removed during caustic leaching varied widely from sludge to sludge (Table 1.1). The observation that chromium present in solution during sludge washing and caustic leaching of Hanford tank wastes exists, within experimental error, in the +6 oxidation state has been supported by a large number of more recent sludge washing and caustic-leaching studies (Lumetta et al. 2003; Lumetta et al. 2002; Lumetta et al. 2001; Lumetta et al. 1998a; Lumetta et al. 1997).

Some information also exists about the nature of chromium phases in Hanford tank sludge, mostly obtained by various physical methods, such as powder X-ray diffraction (XRD), transition electron microscopy coupled with electron diffraction (TEM/ED), or scanning electron microscopy coupled with energy-dispersive spectroscopy (SEM-EDS). The first method gives information about the crystalline phases, and the second can give information about crystalline and non-crystalline phases, whereas the third method only supplies elemental information. It is important to note that the relative amounts of these phases are not quantified when multiple phases are observed. Table 1.2 summarizes the chromium-containing phases identified to date (Rapko and Lumetta 2000; Lumetta et al. 2003; Rapko et al. 2002). Table 1.2 can be summarized by noting that chromium generally has been found either as a pure oxide/hydroxide phase, is associated with aluminum, or exists in spinel phases.

Table 1.1.	Cr(III)/Cr(VI) Compositions in Hanford Tank Sludges Before and After Caustic
	Leaching

	Untreated Sludge		% Cr Removed	After Caustic Leaching		% Removed		
Tank	Cr(III), %	Cr(VI), %	by dilute [OH ⁻] (wash)	Cr(III), %	Cr(VI), %	Total Cr	Cr(III)	Cr(VI)
B-111	73	27	27	> 95	< 5	41	18	> 95
BX-107	91	9	21	> 95	< 5	29	22	> 95
BY-110	69	31	47	> 95	< 5	48	2	> 95
S-104	< 5	> 95	90	Not D	Not Detected		Not Detected	
S-107	89	11	24	> 95	< 5	53	38	> 95
SX-108	13	87	71	> 95	< 5	78	24	> 95
SY-103	> 95	< 5	5	> 95	< 5	13	13	> 95
T-104	84	16	17	> 95	< 5	27	13	> 95
T-111	78	22	24	> 95	< 5	64	54	> 95

		Waste Type ^(a)		Present After Caustic
Phase	Tank	Primary	Secondary	Leaching?
Bi ₃₈ CrO ₆₀	B-111	2C	5-6	Yes
Bi ₃₈ CrO ₆₀	T-104	1C	None	Yes
Cr(O)(OH) (grimaldite)	BY-110	TBP-F	EB-ITS	Yes
CrPO ₄	T-104	1C	None	Yes
Al/Cr(OH) ₃ (am) ^(b)	SY-103	CC	None	Yes
Al/Cr(OH) ₃ (am) ^(b)	U-108	EB	CW	Not Determined
Cr(oxide/hydroxide)(am) ^(c)	U-108	EB	CW	Not Determined
NaAlO ₂ /Cr(OH) ₃ (am) ^(d)	AN-104	DSSF	None	Yes
Ca/Cr phase	AN-104	DSSF	None	Yes
$Fe(Cr,Fe)_2O_4$ (donathite)	BY-104	TBP-F	EB-ITS	Yes
FeCr ₂ O ₄	S-111	R	EB	Yes
CrMn ₂ O ₄	S-111	R	EB	Yes
Cr _{1.5} Mn _{1.5} O ₄	S-111	R	EB	Yes
(a) Based on SORWT Model (Hil	l et al. 1995); R=	high-level reduction of	xidation waste, EB = evap	orator bottoms, CC = complex

 Table 1.2.
 Summary of Chromium Phase Information in Hanford Tank Sludges

(a) Based on SORWT Model (Hill et al. 1995); R= high-level reduction oxidation waste, EB = evaporator bottoms, CC = complex concentrate, DSSF = double shell slurry feed, 1C = first decontamination cycle waste, 2C = second decontamination cycle waste, ITS = in-tank solidification, 5-6 = high-level B Plant waste from the bottom of Section 5, CW = cladding waste, TBP-F = tributyl phosphate ferrocyanide scavenged waste.

(b) Chromium and aluminum hydroxides associated with each other.

(c) Chromium in an oxide or hydroxide environment.

(d) Chromium associated with amorphous sodium aluminate.

Substantial dissolution of Cr(III) into alkaline solution as the tetrahydroxochromium(III) complex $[Cr(OH)_4]^-$ was anticipated in the early sludge washing and caustic-leaching experiments with Hanford tank sludges. This was based on the known amphoteric behavior for Cr(III) as illustrated in Figure 1.3 and discussed above. However, the results in Table 1.1, together with more recent results from caustic-leaching studies of actual Hanford tank sludges, indicate that the chromium behavior is more complex. While significant concentrations of Cr(III) hydroxide can exist in high-caustic solutions at room temperature (RT), it also has been shown that the heating of such solutions causes guyanaite, syn-(CrOOH), to precipitate. This precipitate does not readily redissolve in aqueous caustic media (Lumetta et al. 1998a,b). This observation is consistent with previous reports of an observed lowered solubility of (initially) amorphous Cr(OH)₃ in acidic and near-neutral solutions at elevated temperature (Lumetta et al. 1997; Rai et al. 1987); an example is shown in Figure 1.5. It is possible then that the elevated temperatures experienced in the tanks may have generated more poorly soluble Cr(III) phases than amorphous Cr(III) hydroxide.

This demonstration of the lowered solubility of Cr(III) hydroxide following heating in alkaline solution to temperatures often achieved in the Hanford tanks or during caustic leaching itself suggests that removing chromium as Cr(III) by simple alkaline sludge washing and/or caustic leaching is unlikely to be an effective and efficient strategy for chromium removal from Hanford tank sludges. A plausible alternative based on the above-described chemistry might be to add an oxidant and enhance the dissolution of water-insoluble chromium from Hanford tank sludge by facilitating the conversion from its relatively poorly alkaline-soluble +3 oxidation state to its more alkaline-soluble form as chromate, CrO_4^{2-} (Lumetta et al. 2000). Studies that have addressed this hypothesis are discussed in the next section.



Figure 1.5. Chromium Hydroxide Solubility as Ambient and Elevated Temperature (Rai 1987)

1.3 Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching Studies with Hanford Tank Wastes

Studies over the last several years with Hanford tank sludge simulants and with actual Hanford tank sludges indicate that treating water-washed and caustic-leached solids with oxidizing agents indeed can significantly increase the effectiveness of chromium removal (Rapko et al. 1996b; Rapko et al. 1997; Rapko 1998; Delegard et al. 1993; Delegard 1995; Lumetta et al. 1995; Lumetta and Swanson 1993; Krot et al. 1999; Sylvester et al. 2001; Rapko et al. 2002; Rapko and Vienna 2002; Rapko and Vienna 2003). Tested oxidants to date include ozone, O_3 (Rapko et al. 1996b; Rapko et al. 1997; Delegard et al. 1993), hydrogen peroxide, H_2O_2 (Lumetta and Swanson 1993; Lumetta et al. 1995; Rapko et al. 1997; Lumetta et al. 1995; Delegard 1995; Krot et al. 1999), permanganate, MnO_4^- (Lumetta et al. 1995; Lumetta and Swanson 1993; Rapko et al. 1996b; Rapko et al. 2002; Rapko and Vienna 2003), oxygen, O_2 (Rapko 1998; Krot et al. 1999), persulfate, $S_2O_8^{2-}$ (Krot et al. 1999; Rapko et al. 2002), ferrate, FeO_4^{2-} (Sylvester et al. 2001; Rapko et al. 2002; Rapko and Vienna 2003) and peroxynitrite, ONOO⁻ (Rapko and Vienna 2002). These tests and the primary relevant conclusions are reviewed below.

One of the earliest applications of oxidative-alkaline leaching to Hanford tank sludges was by Lumetta and Swanson (Lumetta et al. 1995; Lumetta and Swanson 1993), who examined alkaline hydrogen peroxide treatments and permanganate treatments of SY-102 Hanford tank sludge. Their qualitative observations were that severe foaming occurred upon treatment with hydrogen peroxide with no indication of any chromate formation. Permanganate treatment, however, led to the rapid formation of a yellow solution consistent with the presence of chromate. A qualitative test for alpha activity indicated no detectable alpha activity in the mildly alkaline (0.1 M hydroxide) leach solution following permanganate treatment.

Another early examination was performed by Delegard and co-workers (Delegard et al. 1993), who looked at the ozonolysis of both actual and simulated 241-SY-101 Hanford tank waste. The goal of this work was to investigate ozonolysis as a method for organic destruction. The key findings were (1) a rapid

(complete after ca. 8 hour) destruction of total organic carbon (TOC) with concomitant decreases in americium and strontium solution concentrations, (2) a similarly rapid oxidation of nitrite to nitrate, and (3) a concomitant increase in dissolved chromium and plutonium once the TOC and nitrite were consumed. Figure 1.6 illustrates the changes in chromium and plutonium solution concentrations as a function of time.

A later examination involving oxidative-alkaline treatment of SY-101 simulant and SY-101 and SY-102 actual Hanford tank waste was also performed (Delegard 1995). Here the oxidant used was hydrogen peroxide. Although a significant enhancement of chromium dissolution (RT, 3 M NaOH, 2 days contact time) was observed (up to 50% of the water insoluble chromium) in tests with the SY-101 simulant, little to no change in the chromium concentration was observed when contacted with the actual SY-101 tank waste. Indeed, adding hydrogen peroxide to a 3 M NaOH solution in contact with actual SY-102 tank waste resulted in a slight decrease (16 from 21%) in the fraction of dissolved chromium as compared to contact of the tank waste with 3 M NaOH alone. With both actual SY-101 and SY-102, peroxide treatment led to about an order of magnitude increase in the amount of plutonium in solution, but in both cases, the fraction of plutonium that dissolved was low (< 5%).

A study of the rate of Cr(III) oxidation for various dissolved Cr(III) hydroxide species by hydrogen peroxide under alkaline conditions has been performed recently (Rao et al. 2002). The rate of Cr(III) oxidation to Cr(VI) was found to be first order in Cr(III), first order in hydrogen peroxide, and inverse first order in hydroxide. However, the oxidation rate constants differ for each species, with the rate constants increasing as the nuclearity of the Cr(III) species in solution decreases and with oxidation of the monomeric species tetrahydroxychromate(III) being the most rapid.

Krot and co-workers have examined the reactions of persulfate, oxygen, and hydrogen peroxide with chromium in a variety of solid forms under alkaline conditions (Krot et al. 1999). They found persulfate was the most effective, followed by oxygen (effective but slow for pure chromium phases and not effective when chromium exists in spinel phases), followed by hydrogen peroxide (compromised when



Figure 1.6. Dissolution of Chromium and ^{239,240}Pu from 241-SY-101 Tank Waste During Ozonolysis Under Alkaline Conditions (Delegard et al. 1993)

the solids contain iron or aged chromium). Persulfate also enhances plutonium dissolution, but it was found that subsequent treatment with hydrogen peroxide was effective at reprecipitating the dissolved plutonium.

The remaining studies of oxidative-alkaline leaching have been performed by Rapko and co-workers using a variety of oxidants and various washed Hanford tank sludges. These tests were designed to survey the effectiveness at oxidative-alkaline dissolution of chromium from Hanford tank sludges with relative high amounts of water insoluble chromium; it should be emphasized that they were not designed to mimic any proposed plant operations. These tests were generally characterized by high solution to solids ratios (typically 100:1) and typically explored temperature, time, oxidant, and hydroxide concentration as the variables. Contact times were typically 24 to 48 hours in duration. Table 1.3 summarizes the plutonium and chromium removals with the sludges tested, the initial hydroxide concentrations, the oxidant used, and the temperature of the leaching.

Tank	Oxidant	Initial [OII]	\mathbf{T}_{omm} (°C)	% Cr Removed	% Pu Removed	Reference
		Initial [OH ⁻]	Temp (°C)			
SY-103	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	90	< 0.01 ^(c)	Rapko et al. 1996b
	O_3	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	89	5.3	Rapko et al. 1996b
	air	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	34	0.02	Rapko et al. 1996b
B-111	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	18	< 0.02 ^(c)	Rapko et al. 1996b
	O ₃	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	12	< 0.07 ^(c)	Rapko et al. 1996b
	air	0.01 M	RT, then 80°C	5	<0.07 ^(c)	Rapko et al. 1996b
BY-110	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	83	0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	83	0	Rapko et al. 1997
	O_2	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	2	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	Ar	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	8	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	$[MnO_4]^{-}$	3 M	RT, then 80°C	94	13.4	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	3 M	RT, then 80°C	90	3.91	Rapko et al. 1997
	O_2	3 M	RT, then 80°C	11	0.19	Rapko et al. 1997
	Ar	3 M	RT, then 80°C	28	0.17	Rapko et al. 1997
SX-108	$[MnO_4]^{-}$	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	22	0.09	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	42	0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	$[MnO_4]^{-}$	3 M	RT, then 80°C	45	2.09	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	3 M	RT, then 80°C	33	0.09	Rapko et al. 1997
S-107	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	58	0.11	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	84	0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₂	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	8	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	Ar	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	5	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	$[MnO_4]^-$	3 M	RT, then 80°C	80	4.97	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₃	3 M	RT, then 80°C	87	0.13	Rapko et al. 1997
	O ₂	3 M	RT, then 80°C	65	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 1997
	Ar	3 M	RT, then 80°C	ND	ND	Rapko et al. 1997

Table 1.3.Summary of PNNL Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching with Washed Hanford Tank
Sludges. Samples are from washed sludge composites unless noted otherwise.

Table 1.3 (Contd)

				% Cr		
Tank	Oxidant	Initial [OH ⁻]	Temp (°C)	Removed	% Pu Removed	Reference
U-	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	97	1	Rapko 1998
108 ^(a)	02	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	5	0	Rapko 1998
	Ar	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	0.6	0.02	Rapko 1998
	[MnO ₄] ⁻	3 M	RT, then 80°C	99.6	50	Rapko 1998
	O ₂	3 M	RT, then 80°C	94	2	Rapko 1998
	Ar	3 M	RT, then 80°C	5	0.09	Rapko 1998
U-	$[MnO_4]^-$	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	96	1	Rapko 1998
109 ^(a)	O_2	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	14	0	Rapko 1998
107	Ar	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	2	0	Rapko 1998
			RT, then 80°C	99	36	Rapko 1998
	$[MnO_4]^-$	3 M				
	O ₂	3 M	RT, then 80°C	98	1	Rapko 1998
	Ar	3 M	RT, then 80°C	5	0.03	Rapko 1998
SX-108 ^(b)		0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	29	0.53	Rapko 1998
	O ₂	0.1 M	RT, then 80°C	5	0.0053	Rapko 1998
	$[MnO_4]^-$	3 M	RT, then 80°C	64	2	Rapko 1998
	O ₂	3 M	RT, then 80°C	71	0.25	Rapko 1998
S-110	$[MnO_4]^{-}$	0.1 M	30°C	87	0.6	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[S_2O_8]^{2}$	0.1 M	30°C	48	0.1	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[FeO_4]^{2-}$	1.1 M	30°C	88	9	Rapko et al. 2002
	air	0.1 M	30°C	5	0.01	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[MnO_4]^{-}$	0.1 M	80°C	90	1.5	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[S_2O_8]^{2-}$	0.1 M	80°C	89	5.3	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[FeO_4]^{2-}$	1.1 M	80°C	95	1.1	Rapko et al. 2002
	air	0.1 M	85°C	25	< 0.01	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[MnO_4]^-$	3 M	30°C	93	7	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[S_2O_8]^{2-}$	3 M	30°C	89	8	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[FeO_4]^{2-}$	3 M	30°C	90	8	Rapko et al. 2002
	air	3 M	30°C	10	0.5	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[MnO_4]^-$	3 M	80°C	95	11	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[S_2O_8]^{2-}$	3 M	80°C	94	10	Rapko et al. 2002
	$[FeO_4]^{2-}$	3 M	80°C	94	3	Rapko et al. 2002
	air	3 M	85°C	72	0.8	Rapko et al. 2002
U-108	$[MnO_4]^{-1}$	0.1 M	30°C	91	0.2	Rapko and Vienna 2002
	[ONOO] ⁻	0.1 M	30°C	60	0.7	Rapko and Vienna 2002
	air	0.1 M	30°C	1	0.7	Rapko and Vienna 2002
	[MnO ₄]	3 M	85°C	99	69	Rapko and Vienna 2002
	[ONOO] ⁻	3 M	85°C	58	0.5	Rapko and Vienna 2002
	air	3 M	85°C	13	1.8	Rapko and Vienna 2002
Table 1.3	(Contd)					
-----------	---------					
-----------	---------					

(a) From washed saltcake.
(b) From caustic-leached sludge.
(c) Based on total alpha activity.
ND = Not Determined.
$[MnO_4]^-$ = leach solution contacted with permanganate.
O_3 = leach solution contacted with ozone.
O_2 = leach solution contacted with pure oxygen.
air = leach solution contacted with atmosphere.
[ONOO] = leach solution contacted with peroxynitrite.
$[S_2O_8]^{2^2}$ = leach solution contacted with persulfate.
$[FeO_4]^{2^-}$ = leach solution contacted with ferrate.

In addition, there have been several caustic-leaching tests where air contact of Hanford tank sludges with alkaline solutions was performed with extended leach times and with contact by multiple, successive, leach solutions. These results are summarized in Table 1.4.

The results of these chromium-dissolution investigations can be summarized as follows, together with observations relevant to waste sludge processing:

• Hydrogen peroxide is ineffective when tested on actual tank solids, probably because of its catalytic decomposition by other waste components before reaction with chromium can occur.

Sludge	Contact Time ^(a)	[NaOH], M	Leach Temperature (°C)	% Cr Removed ^(a)	% Pu Removed ^(a)	Reference	
S-110	1 week	1	60	49	<1	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	2.8	60	70	1	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	4.8	60	81	2	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	0.9	80	78	0.1	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	2.7	80	89	1	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	4.6	80	90	2	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	0.8	100	83	0.3	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	2.7	100	95	1	Lumetta et al. 2001	
	1 week	4.5	100	99	3	Lumetta et al. 2001	
S-104	211 hr	2.3	100	86	NM ^(c)	Lumetta et al. 1997	
	76 (287) hr	2.9	100	13 (99)	NM ^(c)	Lumetta et al. 1997	
S-101	5 hr	2.5	100	23	<2	Lumetta et al. 1997	
	100 (105) hr	2.7	100	66 (89) ^(b)	<2	Lumetta et al. 1997	
S-111	143 hr	1.9	100	81	<25	Lumetta et al. 1997	
	60 (203) hr	2.5	100	17 (98) ^(b)	<25	Lumetta et al. 1997	
(b) Inclu	(a) Cumulative totals in parenthesis.(b) Includes final washes.						

 Table 1.4.
 Alkaline Leaching in Air with Extended Contact Times

- Ozone has been shown to be both rapid and effective in several tests. It also does not add to the mass of either the LAW or HLW streams. However, there is some evidence for significantly enhanced and concomitant dissolution of transuranic (TRU) elements. In addition, ozone is both toxic and highly corrosive. The reduced form of ozone, oxygen gas, may introduce flammability concerns as well.
- Persulfate is effective at oxidizing Cr(III) to chromate when found in the hydroxide form, the oxide form, and the oxyhydroxide form, and it also oxidizes Cr(III) in nickel and iron spinel phases to chromate. However, persulfate is also capable of oxidizing TRU elements to alkaline-soluble forms, which is undesirable. In addition, persulfate would add several equivalents of sulfur to the LAW waste stream for each equivalent of chromium removed from the HLW sludge, which also is undesirable.
- Ferrate is both rapid and effective, with chromium dissolution essentially completed within hours. The reduced form of ferrate is Fe(III) oxide, which will add mass to the HLW stream. The thermal stability of ferrate solutions under typical enhanced sludge-washing conditions is much less than permanganate solutions. Indeed, alkaline solutions of ferrate must be kept well below RT to remain stable, although at 5°C, alkaline solutions are stable for days to weeks. Some enhanced dissolution of TRU elements is observed.
- Peroxynitrite is not as rapid or effective as ferrate, ozone, or permanganate. In addition, the material is not readily available and, like ferrate, alkaline solutions of peroxynitrite must be kept cold. However, the reduced form, nitrate, should have negligible impact on the high-nitrate LAW stream.
- Oxygen (air) is selective and effective, and it adds no mass to either the LAW or HLW waste streams. However, the rate of chromium dissolution appears significantly slower than with the other oxidants examined and suggests that, at least with Hanford tank sludge and even under the optimum conditions of high temperature and strongly alkaline solution, several days to weeks may be required before the reaction with chromium is complete. Little to no enhanced dissolution of radionuclides is observed.
- Permanganate is both rapid and effective, with chromium dissolution effectively complete within hours. As discussed further below, at low hydroxide concentrations, the reduced form of permanganate is manganese dioxide, which will add mass to the HLW stream. With strongly alkaline solutions, the reduced form is manganate, which is quite soluble in these leach solutions. Aqueous solutions of permanganate, although somewhat light sensitive, are fairly stable thermally. A modest enhanced dissolution of TRU elements is observed at low hydroxide concentrations, although much greater dissolution of plutonium was observed occasionally when contacted with strongly alkaline leach solutions. It should also be noted that permanganate has been by far the most extensively tested of all added oxidants.

After examining the strengths and weaknesses of each of the oxidants, it appears that permanganate is the best choice for continued study. It is readily available, alkaline permanganate solutions are reasonably stable, and its oxidation of chromium from alkaline solutions is rapid and effective. At low hydroxide concentrations, the observed plutonium concentrations are not appreciably different than those found in simple caustic solutions at high hydroxide concentrations, so enhanced plutonium dissolution is unlikely to be problematic. Finally, other WTP plant operations, such as the Sr/TRU removal process, also use permanganate, so equipment compatibility should not be an issue. The major drawback of

permanganate is added mass to the HLW waste stream, but the limited evidence from prior studies suggests that the added manganese is not the limiting component in HLW waste loadings after oxidative-alkaline leaching with permanganate (Rapko and Vienna 2002; Rapko and Vienna 2003). The next section focuses on permanganate oxidations in alkaline solution in greater detail.

1.4 Permanganate Oxidations of Hanford Tank Sludge

Some additional information regarding alkaline permanganate treatments of Hanford tank sludges is summarized in Table 1.5.

Tank Sample	Waste Source Type	Conditions of [MnO ₄ ⁻] Treatment	[Cr] _{initial} (µg/g dried solid)	[Cr] _{final} (µg/g dried solid)	% Cr Removed	Reference Document
U-108	Washed sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], 30°C	200000	20108 ^(a)	91	Rapko and Vienna 2002
U-108	Washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], 85°C	200000	3038	99	Rapko and Vienna 2002
S-110	Washed sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], 30°C	23050	3290	87	Rapko et al. 2002
S-110	Washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], 85°C	23050	2310	95	Rapko et al. 2002
U-108	Washed saltcake solids	0.1 M [OH], RT	112000	3775	96.6	Rapko 1998
U-108	Washed saltcake solids	3 M [OH], 80°C	112000	1200	99.6	Rapko 1998
U-109	Washed saltcake solids	0.1 M [OH], RT	255000	8870 ^(a)	96.3	Rapko 1998
U-109	Washed saltcake solids	3 M [OH], 80°C	255000	2840	98.9	Rapko 1998
SX-108	Caustic-Leached sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], RT	1320	5240 ^(a)	29	Rapko 1998
SX-108	Water-washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], 80°C	4270	4820	64	Rapko 1998
BY-110	Water-washed sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], RT/80°C	19250	3800	83	Rapko et al. 1997
BY-110	Water-washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], RT/80°C	19250	703	94	Rapko et al. 1997
S-107	Water-washed sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], RT/80°C	13100	3850	58	Rapko et al. 1997
S-107	Water-washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], RT/80°C	13100	1090	80	Rapko et al. 1997
SX-108	Water-washed sludge composite	0.1 M [OH], RT/80°C	5760	4205	22	Rapko et al. 1997
SX-108	Water-washed sludge composite	3 M [OH], RT/80°C	5760	1270	45	Rapko et al. 1997

Table 1.5.Summary of Existing Experimental Results of Permanganate Leaching of Hanford
Tank Sludges (Sederburg 2003)

Table 1.5 (c	ontd)
---------------------	-------

Tank	Waste Source	Conditions of [MnO ₄]	[Cr] _{initial} (µg/g dried	[Cr] _{final} (µg/g dried	% Cr	Reference
Sample	Туре	Treatment	solid)	solid)	Removed	Document
SY-103	Caustic-Leached	0.01 M [OH],	220000	Not available	90	Rapko et al.
	Sludge	RT/80°C				1996b
B-111	Caustic-Leached	0.01 M [OH],	7000	Not available	18	Rapko et al.
	Sludge	RT/80°C				1996b
SY-102	Washed sludge	0.1 M [OH],	11600	Not available	65	Lumetta and
		RT				Swanson
						1993
SY-102	Washed sludge	0.1 M [OH],	11600	Not available	72	Lumetta and
		100°C				Swanson
						1993
(a) Tests t	hat exceed 5000 ppm r	esidual chromium. 1	RT = Room Ter	nperature	•	

As can be seen from Table 1.5, for the vast majority of the samples, despite the initial chromium concentration in the sludge, permanganate treatment can reduce the residual chromium concentration to about 5000 ppm. Since this would meet the conservative Hanford Waste Vitrification Plant specification of 0.5% chromium oxide even at ca. 70% waste-oxide loading, it provides support to the hypothesis that permanganate treatments can remove chromium as the limiting component in the loading of waste oxide even in sludges with initially high chromium concentrations.

In Table 1.5, there are three exceptions to the 5000-ppm chromium residual: one condition with U-108, one condition with U-109, and one condition with SX-108. The SX-108 residual is within experimental error of 5000 ppm. The U-108 and U-109 tests were designed to be stoichiometric reactions with permanganate. Laboratory records indicate that all of the permanganate was consumed immediately, which suggests that a substoichiometric amount of permanganate to chromium may have been added. That other permanganate tests with these sludges easily reached 5000 ppm or less residual chromium also lends support to this hypothesis.

1.5 Permanganate Oxidations in Alkaline Solution

Figure 1.7 shows the Pourbaix diagram for manganese in contact with aqueous solution. Of particular interest to this discussion is the fate of the reduced manganese. At lower pH regions, the preferred form of any reduced permanganate is manganese dioxide, MnO_2 , or even more reduced oxide forms of manganese. Under more basic conditions, the reduced form would be manganate ion, MnO_4^{2-} . Therefore, if a permanganate treatment were to be performed at high hydroxide, the reduced permanganate might well stay in solution and be transferred to the LAW stream with the leachate. If a permanganate treatment were to be done at low hydroxide concentrations, then the reduced manganese will precipitate as manganese dioxide and report to the HLW stream. According to Figure 1.7, the point at which the change in the permanganate-reduced form occurs is approximately pH 10.

Experience with leaching of Hanford tank sludges qualitatively confirms the conclusions reached from the Pourbaix diagram. Manganese dioxide precipitate is indeed generated with low hydroxide leach solutions while soluble manganese has been identified by ultraviolet-visible (UV-vis) spectroscopy with



Figure 1.7. Pourbaix Diagram for Aqueous Manganese at 25°C (Pourbaix 1974). Lines a and b delineate the stability field for water.

high hydroxide leach solutions. However, the point at which the form of the reduced permanganate changes appears to occur at a much more alkaline condition than is indicated in Figure 1.7. Specifically, leach solutions of 0.1 M free hydroxide have been observed to generate manganese dioxide. Leach solutions have been > 1 M in free hydroxide before the sustained presence of manganate ion is observed.

The stoichiometries for the reaction of permanganate with chromium to form chromate and either manganese dioxide (4), manganate (5) or Mn(III) oxide (6) are shown below.

$$Cr(OH)_3 + MnO_4^- + OH^- \implies CrO_4^{2-} + MnO_2 + 2H_2O$$
 (1.4)

$$Cr(OH)_3 + 3MnO_4^2 + 5OH^2 \implies CrO_4^{2^2} + 3MnO_4^{2^2} + 4H_2O$$
 (1.5)

$$8Cr(OH)_3 + 6MnO_4^- + 10OH^- \implies 8CrO_4^{-2} + 3Mn_2O_3 + 17H_2O$$
 (1.6)

Regardless of the form of the reduced manganese, the oxidation of Cr(III) to Cr(VI) consumes hydroxide. The form of the reduced manganese has a substantial impact on the reaction stoichiometry. The formation of manganese dioxide, i.e., permanganate acting as a three-electron reductant, is most efficient in hydroxide and manganese consumption. If the reduced form is Mn(III) oxide, 25% more hydroxide is required (1.25 equivalents hydroxide/equivalent chromium). When the reduced form of permanganate is manganate, i.e., permanganate acting as a one-electron reductant, three equivalents of permanganate and five equivalents of hydroxide are required to oxidize one equivalent of chromium.

There are relatively few studies of the alkaline oxidation of Cr(III) either in solution or as a solid (a fact noted in a relatively recent study [Timmanagudar et al. 1997]). Three reports of note are discussed next. The first involved a study of permanganate oxidation of soluble Cr(III) in alkaline solutions ranging from [OH] = 0.05 to 0.5 M (Timmanagudar et al. 1997). The second looked at the kinetics of Cr(III) oxide dissolution by permanganate in alkaline solution (Segal and Williams 1986), and the third examined the dissolution of permanganate from chromium present in iron oxides (Manjanna and Venkateswaran 2002).

The oxidation of soluble Cr(III) by permanganate in alkaline solution was reported to be rate limiting by the formation of a Mn(VIII)-Cr(III) complex, probably through an oxo bridge (Timmanagudar et al. 1997). The rate equation is complex and dependent on both on the solution permanganate and Cr(III) concentrations.

In a study of the oxidation of Cr(III) oxide by permanganate in mildly alkaline solution (0.01 to 0.1 M hydroxide, [Segal and Williams 1986]) the rate was found to be dependent on (and favored by an increase in) both permanganate and hydroxide concentrations. The postulated mechanism is of hydroxide attack on the chromium oxide surface from a surface chromium-OH species, which in turn reacts with permanganate to form a surface Cr-O-Mn species, which then undergoes electron transfer with concomitant chromium dissolution. However, it is unclear to the authors why an alternative mechanism, involving hydroxide attack at the chromium oxide surface to form soluble $[Cr(OH)_4^-]$, followed by permanganate attack as described above, can be discounted.

In the study of chromium oxidation in chromium-substituted iron oxide by permanganate in mildly alkaline solutions (pH 11-13.2), pure chromium oxide was found to rapidly and completely dissolve under the reaction conditions (Manjanna and Venkateswaran 2002). However, with 20% chromium in Fe₂O₃, less than 10% of the total chromium dissolved. Permanganate does not oxidize iron oxide, so after the surface was depleted of chromium, the remaining chromium apparently became inaccessible to permanganate attack.

Studies related to the Sr/TRU precipitation process for Hanford tank supernatants provide further information relevant to alkaline oxidation of chromium from Hanford tank sludge (Gauger and Hallen 2001; Lilga et al. 2003). Recalling the above-mentioned ozonolysis study of SY-101 sludge, it was

observed that both TOC and nitrite were oxidized before the oxidation of chromium began. Furthermore, at least in acidic solution, the oxalate reduction of permanganate is used for determining solution permanganate concentrations (Jeffrey et al. 1989). So the behavior of permanganate with these common tank waste constituents is of importance as it might consume permanganate in unwanted side reactions. This would increase the amount of permanganate required to effectively oxidize chromium and also might add additional manganese to the HLW stream. In contrast to ozone in alkaline solution or permanganate in acidic solution, Gauger and Hallen report that both nitrite and oxalate are unreactive towards permanganate in alkaline solution; thus, these species will not consume permanganate during oxidativealkaline leaching. However, model studies of permanganate oxidation under alkaline conditions (Lilga et al. 2003) suggest that some organic oxidations may be kinetically competent to compete with chromium oxidation. Organic destruction, then, may be a permanganate-consuming side reaction to the oxidative-alkaline leaching of chromium. Fortunately, this potential side reaction likely can be avoided by first performing a solid-liquid separation step to remove the TOC. In short, studies related to Sr/TRU precipitation processing suggest that oxidative-alkaline leaching of chromium ought to be performed on washed sludges where the organic material has been separated from the sludge, rather than upon the asreceived supernatant/solid slurry, at least for tank supernatants with high concentrations of organic material.

In conclusion, the review of aqueous chromium chemistry and prior oxidative-alkaline leaching studies provides several suggestions that should help focus further studies. These points can be summarized as follows:

- Permanganate appears to be the most compatible oxidant for use in the Waste Treatment Plant (WTP) for oxidative-alkaline leaching.
- The hydroxide concentration used for oxidative-alkaline leaching has several impacts. The oxidation of chromium by permanganate consumes hydroxide, so if too little hydroxide is in the system, the pH may drop to neutral from alkaline. Increased temperature and hydroxide concentration appear to slightly enhance chromium removal but occasionally also increases the extent of plutonium dissolution. It should be noted that while the rate of chromate formation has been monitored, the rate of plutonium dissolution has not. Therefore, examining the rate of plutonium dissolution to see if it, like with the ozone/SY-101 study, occurs concomitant with chromate formation is an important research objective. In general, modest hydroxide concentrations such as 0.1 M appear to be fairly efficient, but temperature and hydroxide concentrations are likely key variables for process optimization.
- To avoid potential side reactions with organic materials, oxidative-alkaline leaching of chromium from washed sludges is preferable.
- The permanganate to chromium stoichiometry may be an important variable. It has two impacts: the efficiency of the oxidant use (1:1 vs 3:1 permanganate: chromium) and the waste stream where the reduced permanganate reports. The information obtained to date indicates that adding manganese to the HLW will not be a limiting factor in glass loading, although this obviously depends on any specific waste's composition. Adding manganese as permanganate to the LAW stream may have downstream implications if further reaction with organic material occurs with resulting manganese precipitation. Another concern could be that any remaining excess permanganate may subsequently

react with the organic ion exchange resins, with unknown consequences to processing. From these considerations, it appears that low hydroxide is likely to be preferred, but actual testing of this is probably still a worthwhile objective.

Applying these points, the following guidelines for testing on SY-102 and SX-101 Hanford tank sludges were developed:

- Use washed sludges.
- Investigate the impact of temperature (ambient and the elevated caustic-leach [85°C] conditions).
- Investigate the impact of permanganate stoichiometry (approximately 1:1 versus excess permanganate), and hydroxide concentration (but with the focus on low, 0.1 M, hydroxide leach solutions).
- Use relatively short contact times, given the historical rapid chromium dissolution observed previously.
- Monitor both of the rate of chromium dissolution (as chromate) and plutonium dissolution.

2.0 Experimental Testing Design and Procedure

This section describes the chromium leach reagent and the sludge samples from SY-102 and SX-101. The testing procedure includes the

- initial sludge washing
- subdivision of the washed SY-102 and SX-101 solids
- initial caustic leaching of washed SY-102 and SX-101 solids
- oxidative-alkaline leach testing of SY-102 and SX-101 solids
- final caustic leaching of washed SY-102 and SX-101 solids
- estimation of the glass volume
- calculations for glass formulation.

2.1 Chromium Leach Reagent Preparation and General Experimental Information

All reagents used in this work were of analytical grade purity or higher. The hydroxide concentrations of stock solutions were verified by titration with primary standard acid solutions. Hydroxide concentrations in the actual leach solutions were measured by titration with standardized solutions of hydrochloric acid using a Mettler Model DL 21 Autotitrator.

UV-vis measurements were made on a 400-series charge-coupled device array spectrophotometer (Spectral Instruments Inc.) with a 200- to 950-nm scanning range. The solutions were held in PLASTIBRAND[®] 1-cm cuvettes. UV-vis spectroscopic measurements were obtained as follows: sample aliquots were diluted as necessary with 0.1 M NaOH, and the spectra from 350 to 800 nm were recorded on a Spectral Instrument's 400 series charged-coupled device (CCD) array UV-vis spectrophotometer. The chromate concentrations were determined by measuring the test solution's absorbance at 372 nm, which is the wavelength of maximum absorbance for chromate in the visible spectrum. The instrument was calibrated at this wavelength using standards-grade potassium dichromate in 1 M NaOH in line with a published procedure (Gordon and Ford 1972). The results of the calibration are shown in Figure 2.1.

Samples for powder XRD measurements were prepared by slurrying a dried sludge sample with an amyl acetate-based, low X-ray background, glue, placing the slurry on a glass slide and drying the prepared sample before analysis. The XRD measurement was performed on a Sintag PAD V X-ray Powder diffractometer using Cu-K α radiation and a solid-state detector. Measurement parameters include operation at 2 KW power, 0.02 degrees/step, and a 20 sec/step over a 2 θ range of 5 to 65 degrees. The diffraction patterns were compared with known 2-theta/intensity data from the International Centre for Diffraction Data (ICDD) database 49 (through 1999) to identify crystalline phases. This measurement was performed according to the technical procedure PNL-ALO-268, Solids Analysis, X-ray Diffraction.

SEM-EDS measurements were performed using the model EDS2000 system with a 500 Digital processing unit and 5480 Imaging Interface (IXRF Systems Inc. Houston, Texas) connected to a 1610 Scanning Electron Microscope (Amray Microscopes Inc. Bedford, Massachusetts). Samples of



Figure 2.1. Results from the Calibration of UV-vis Spectrometer at 372 nm Against Standard Chromate Solutions

washed solids were fixed onto graphite tape and placed onto the SEM station stage, and the sample chamber was pumped down to 2E-07 to 4E-07 torr. The sample image then was brought into focus, and adjustments were made to system's KV and spot size control. A digital image was captured on the computer screen, and subsections of that image were examined by x-ray microanalysis.

The Analytical Services Organization at Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division (PNWD) performed all gamma energy analysis (GEA), alpha energy analysis (AEA), and inductively coupled plasma-alpha energy analysis (ICP-AEA) measurements using standard procedures.

2.2 Description of the SY-102 and SX-101 Sludge Samples

The Hanford tank SY-102 sample used for this testing is a composite of both liquid- and sludgecontaining segments from two different core samples (Table 2.1). Several glass bottles, whose contents ranged from primarily solids to mostly liquids, were prepared at the Hanford 222-S Laboratory and shipped to PNWD in July 2003.

Sample ID ^(a)	Core No.	Jar No.	Phase ^(b)	Amount Added, g		
S03T001382	286	19506	S	44.7		
S03T001383	286	19561	SL	48.1		
S03T001376	284	19606	S	25.8		
S03T001377	284	19607	S	45.9		
S03T001375	284	19411	S	13.0		
S03T001406	286	18982	S	6.9		
S03T001381	286	18714	S	9.0		
S03T001380	286	18599	S	34.1		
S03T001374	284	18586	S	34.1		
S03T001379	284	18528	L	135.5		
S03T001385	286	19203	L	142.8		
S03T001378	284	19213	L	171.4		
S03T001405	284	19538	L	173.4		
S03T001384	286	19209	L	166.3		
S03T001404	286	19211	L	168.6		
· · · –	(a) Unique identifier associated with the 222-S Laboratory.					

 Table 2.1.
 Description of SY-102 Sludge Composite

The Hanford tank sludge SX-101 sample used for this testing is a composite of SX-101 sludgecontaining segments from Core 225. Approximately 75 grams of this black slurry (Sample ID S03T001373 in Jar #13998) were prepared at the Hanford 222-S Laboratory and were shipped to PNWD in July 2003.

2.3 Initial Sludge Washing

In the 325 Building's HLRF hot cell facilities, the contents of the SY-102 bottles were combined in a single 2-L jar. For both the SY-102 and SX-101 samples, the contents were mixed with a magnetic stirring bar, and a portion of each well-stirred suspension was transferred into a separate 50 ml centrifugation cone. The aliquots of the SY-102 and SX-101 samples individually were washed twice with enough 0.01 M NaOH so that the total volume of the suspension was 50 ml (an approximately 1:1 to 5:1 ratio [volume supernatant:volume centrifuge solids]). The solids were separated from the liquids by centrifugation after each wash. In the RPL hot cell facilities, the sludge-composite samples were transferred into 50-ml polyethylene centrifuge bottles and contacted repeatedly with fresh portions of 0.01 M NaOH at an initial solution-to-solids ratio of approximately 5:1. After each contact, the supernatant was decanted off and discarded. These washings were repeated until the bulk of the color was removed (typically 5 washes). Little color was observed in the final wash solution, although the yellow tinge imparted by the lead-glass windows made detection of any yellow color imparted by the presence of alkaline Cr(VI) somewhat speculative. The final slurry was prepared by adding a portion of 0.01 M NaOH to the washed, centrifuged solids. For each sludge sample, two weighed aliquots of the wellstirred (using a Teflon-coated magnetic stirring bar) suspension were removed and dried to a constant weight at 105°C. From this information, the amounts and concentrations of water-insoluble sludge were obtained. This information is summarized in Table 2.2.

Sludge	SY-102		SX-101	
Wt slurry (g)	19.5191		27.6472	
Wt slurry aliquot (g)	1.1157	1.1120	0.7167	1.0313
Wt residual solids (g)	0.1887	0.1904	0.1717	0.2495
Wt% insoluble solids	16.91	17.12	24.00	24.19
Total insoluble solids (g)	3.32		6.66	

 Table 2.2.
 Initial Analytical Sampling of Washed Sludges

These SX-101 dried samples were used for subsequent SEM, XRD, AEA, GEA, and ICP-AES measurements. However, the amount of SY-102 solids isolated above was deemed insufficient for testing. So another sample of the SY-102 composite was taken and washed as above in the HLRF and SAL hot cells. These newly washed SY-102 solids were then combined with the previously washed SY-102 solids, and a second set of two weighed aliquots was removed from the well-stirred (using a Teflon-coated magnetic stirring bar) suspension and dried to a constant weight at 105°C. These new SY-102 data are summarized in Table 2.3.

 Table 2.3.
 Second Analytical Sampling of Washed SY-102 Sludge

Sludge	SY-102		
Wt slurry (g)	109.2788		
Wt slurry aliquot (g)	1.1498	1.2100	
Wt residual solids (g)	0.0870	0.0932	
Wt% insoluble solids	7.57	7.70	
Total insoluble solids (g)	8.35		

These SY-102 dried samples were used for subsequent SEM, XRD, AEA, GEA, and ICP-AES measurements. The concentrations of the major non-radioactive sludge components (defined here as >10,000 μ g/g dried solids in either sludge) and the detected radionuclide components and concentrations are summarized in Table 2.4 and Table 2.5.

Table 2.4.	ICP-AES Determined Composition of Major Components in Dilute Hydroxide-
	Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

	SY-102 Concentration,	SX-101 Concentration,		
Component	μg/g Dried Solids	μg/g Dried Solids		
Al	171000	229000		
Cr	73200	51500		
Fe	59000	24800		
Mn	14100	15600		
Na	28100	25200		
Si	14800	7300 ^(a)		
$U^{(a)}$	7100	28000		
(a) Values above the minimum detectable quantity (MRQ) but above the EQL and so with an uncertainty above				
15%				

		SY-102 Concentration,	SX-101 Concentration,
Component	Analysis Method	µCi/g Dried Solids	µCi/g Dried Solids
^{239,240} Pu	AEA	3.71E+01	1.28E+00
^{243,244} Cm	AEA	7.18E-02	8.89E-02
238 Pu & 241 Am	AEA	1.29E+02	4.52E+00
Total α	Sum of AEA	1.66E+02	5.89E+00
¹³⁷ Cs	GEA	7.10E+01	4.86E+01
⁶⁰ Co	GEA	7.05E-02	7.11E-02
²⁴¹ Am	GEA	1.36E+02	5.19E+00
¹⁵⁴ Eu	GEA	2.17E+00	2.97E+00
¹⁵⁵ Eu	GEA	1.10E+00	1.46E+00

Table 2.5.Concentrations of the Major, Identified Radionuclides in Dilute Hydroxide-Washed
SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

2.4 Subdivision of the Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

In the SAL hot cells, six aliquots were removed from the well-stirred sludge slurry, and each aliquot was transferred into a separate 30-ml plastic bottle. The targeted volumes were 4.6 ml of SX-101 slurry and 14.4 ml of SY-102 slurry. The masses of material transferred are summarized in Table 2.6.

Table 2.6.Sub-Sampling of Washed SX-101 and SY-102 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach
Testing

Sample	Added Slurry (g)	Sample	Added Slurry (g)
SY-102-1	16.032	SX-101-1	4.668
SY-102-2	16.108	SX-101-2	4.610
SY-102-3	15.813	SX-101-3	5.402
SY-102-4	15.767	SX-101-4	4.823
SY-102-5	15.460	SX-101-5	3.851
SY-102-6	16.174	SX-101-6	1.370/9.963 ^(a)
(a) Addition	nal DI water added to s	lurry out all r	esidual solids.

The reaction bottles then were transferred from the SAL hot cells to a laboratory fume hood, and the reaction bottles were placed in a J-KEM heating/rotary aluminum shaker block into which holes, sized to securely hold the sample bottles, were cut. The depth of the holes kept the bulk of the test solution surrounded by the heating block. One position contained a blank solution of hydroxide into which a thermocouple was immersed. The thermocouple allowed the solution temperature to be maintained at temperature to within 1°C. Stock solutions of the oxidant, 10 M NaOH, deionized water, and sodium permanganate solution were added as needed to meet the targeted experimental conditions.

2.5 Initial Caustic Leaching of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

The initial amount of settled solids was estimated as about 4 ml for both SY-102 and SX-101. An initial caustic leaching on samples SX-101-3, SX-101-4, SY-102-3, and SY-102-4 was performed. A

volume of 3:1 leachate:settled solids (v:v) was targeted for a total target volume of 16 ml. To achieve 16 ml of an initial 3 M NaOH leach solution, 4.8 ml of 10 M NaOH and 8.2 ml DI water were added to each system. These bottles were loosely capped and heated for 8 hours at $85 \pm 5^{\circ}$ C. The heating was then stopped and the system cooled to RT overnight. The test suspensions then were centrifuged and the supernatants decanted into 30-ml plastic vials. To the residual solids in each test container, 0.1 M NaOH was added at a 3:1 (v solution:v solids) ratio, the contents were mixed, the solids were again separated by centrifugation, and the solution was decanted into the sample container as the initial leachate solution. Washings were continued until the supernatant was colorless. Samples were then filtered through a 0.2-micron Nylon syringe filter, and a 1-ml aliquot was placed in a container with 10 ml of 1 M nitric acid for ICP-AES analysis. A portion of the filtered leachate was stored in a 7-ml glass vial for further analysis.

2.6 Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing of SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

Table 2.7 summarizes the experimental conditions targeted for the oxidative-alkaline leaching tests.

			Oxidative		
	Prior	Post	Leach	Oxidative	Oxidative
Sample	NaOH	NaOH	[NaOH] _{initial} ,	Leach	Leach
Number	Leach?	Leach?	Μ	Temp. °C	[NaMnO ₄] _{initial} /[Cr]
Tank#-1	No	No	3	85	1.1
Tank#-2	No	No	5	85	5
Tank#-3	Yes	No	0.25	25	1.1
Tank#-4	Yes	No	0.25	85	1.1
Tank#-5	No	Yes	0.25	25	1.1
Tank#-6	No	Yes	0.25	85	1.1

 Table 2.7.
 Targeted Experimental Conditions for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing

Aliquots of the leach solutions were taken for analysis at approximately 2, 6, and 24 hours after the leach solutions were initially contacted with the sludge. Sampling involved tightly capping the vials and performing an initial centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes to effect a preliminary solids/liquids separation. The caps were removed, and a solution aliquot was taken. These aliquots were passed through a 0.2-µm Nylon® syringe filter, and 0.1 ml was diluted into 2 ml of 0.25 M NaOH. A second 0.1-ml aliquot was added to a glass vial containing 1 ml of 0.67 M nitric acid for subsequent plutonium analysis; excess undiluted leach solution then was returned to the reaction vessel. The vials were then briefly agitated by vortex mixing to resuspend the solids and placed back into the heated rotary shaker.

After 24 hours, the test slurries were centrifuged (3000 rpm for a minimum of 5 minutes), and the supernatants were decanted from the residual solids. The residual solids were then washed three to four times with 0.1 M NaOH to remove any components present in the interstitial liquid. In all cases, the final wash solution appeared colorless. After each wash, the samples were centrifuged, and the supernatant was combined with the final leachate. A portion of the final leach solution was then filtered through a 0.2-µm Nylon® syringe filter, and a weighed aliquot of that filtered solution was added to a known amount of 1 M nitric acid to inhibit any precipitation before ICP-AES and radiochemical analysis.

Meanwhile, the 0.1 M NaOH-washed residual solids were dried to a constant weight at 105°C. These residual solids were subjected to a KOH fusion in a nickel crucible followed by dissolution into nitric acid. The content of the major metallic elements in both the acidified supernatants and dissolved residues was determined by ICP-AES as noted above for the initial washed solids. The radionuclide activities in both the acidified supernatants and dissolved residues were determined by alpha-energy analysis and gamma-energy analysis as described above for the washed solids.

2.7 Final Caustic Leaching of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Solids

Following the oxidative-alkaline leaching and washing of the leached solids as described above, a final 3 M NaOH leach was performed on samples SX-101-5, SX-101-6, SY-102-5, and SY-102-6 as described previously for samples SX-101-3, SX-101-4, SY-102-3, and SY-102-4.

2.8 Glass Volume Estimation

The impact of various leaching techniques on glass volume was estimated using a systematic method that optimized waste loading in glass. A set of conditions, consistent with current River Protection Project-Waste Treatment and Immobilization Plant (RPP-WTP) vitrification process and compliance strategies, were met simultaneously. The glass-forming chemical (GFC) concentrations were varied until the waste loading was a maximum while meeting the full set of conditions. The various conditions are described in Section 2.8.1. Section 2.8.2 summarizes how these conditions were converted into numerical constraints, and Section 2.8.3 gives the details of how the optimization calculations were performed.

2.8.1 Compliance and Processing Conditions

The RPP-WTP compliance strategy for meeting Waste Acceptance Product Specification (WAPS) (DOE-EM 1996) and Contract (DOE-ORP 2000) specifications for IHLW is discussed by Nelson (2003). In addition to satisfying applicable compliance conditions, IHLW produced by the RPP-WTP must also satisfy several processing conditions. The following paragraphs describe each of the compliance and processing conditions considered in selecting optimized glass formulations.^(a) In cases where uncertainties in the compliance or process variables are to be accounted for in the WTP IHLW compliance and process control strategies, they were accounted for in developing optimized glass formulations. For such cases, the type of statistical interval used to quantify the uncertainty in model predictions of compliance or processing properties is noted in the discussion. The types of statistical intervals are discussed further in Section 2.8.2.

2.8.1.1 Compliance Conditions

Three compliance conditions were factored into the glass composition optimization. These conditions are briefly described in the following paragraphs.

IHLW produced by the RPP-WTP must satisfy limits on product consistency test (PCT) (ASTM 1998) normalized releases of boron ($r_{\rm B}$), lithium ($r_{\rm Li}$), and sodium ($r_{\rm Na}$). The PCT normalized releases

⁽a) Many property and composition conditions/constraints are typically applied to the development of waste glass compositions. Only those key conditions/constraints critical to determining if a glass can be fabricated with uncertain and varying compositions were applied in this study.

must remain below the prescribed limits of 8.35 g/m² for $r_{\rm B}$, 4.79 g/m² for $r_{\rm Li}$, and 6.68 g/m² for $r_{\rm Na}$ (Jantzen et al. 1993). The uncertainty for models relating the natural logarithm of PCT normalized releases to HLW glass composition was calculated using 95% simultaneous confidence intervals (SCIs) (see Section 2.8.2).

To be compliant, IHLW produced by the RPP-WTP must have Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure (TCLP) releases below the proposed delisting limits (Cook and Blumenkranz 2003). For the wastes evaluated in this study, cadmium (Cd) is the only Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1974 (RCRA) constituent present in high enough concentrations to be of concern (Kot et al. 2003). The proposed delisting limit for the TCLP Cd release, c_{Cd} , is 0.48 mg/L. The uncertainty in the model relating $\ln(c_{Cd})$ to glass composition was calculated using a 90% confidence interval (CI) (see Section 2.3), as specified by Cook and Blumenkranz (2003).

Compliance for waste loading (WL) is based on the constraints in Table TS-1.1 of the WTP Contract (DOE-ORP 2000). These constraints specify the minimum fraction of a component or sum of components in glass that must be from the waste for at least one such component or sum of components. Waste-loading compliance is achieved if the concentration of one of the waste components (set of components) is above the value listed in TS-1.1. According to the WTP Project compliance strategy for waste loading, composition uncertainty need not be accounted for in demonstrating waste-loading compliance.

2.8.1.2 Processing Conditions

Two processing conditions were factored into the glass composition optimization. These conditions are briefly described in the following paragraphs.

The processing condition for crystals in the WTP HLW melter is based on $T_{0.01}$, defined as the temperature at which the equilibrium volume fraction of crystals in glass is 0.01 (on a quenched glass basis). The condition is that $T_{0.01}$ should remain below the limit of 950°C. This condition is imposed to avoid the accumulation of crystals in the melter, which may disrupt the power distribution in the melter or the capability to pour glass from the melter. According to the WTP HLW melter design basis document (Clarke 2003), the melter should be capable of continually operating with a glass melt that has a liquidus temperature (T_L) of less than or equal to 950°C.^(a) In the design basis document, T_L is not defined; rather, it refers to the System Description (Peters and Casassa 2003). That document states that T_L is defined by Kot and Pegg (2001), in which T_L is defined as the temperature at which up to one volume percent of slow-settling crystals exist in equilibrium with the melt. This is effectively the same as $T_{0.01}$, used in this study. The model uncertainty for $T_{0.01}$ was calculated using 90% SCIs (see Section 2.8.2).

For the glass-optimization work discussed in this report, viscosity at 1150°C (η_{1150}) was restricted to be between 25 and 60 poise. Also, viscosity at 1100°C (η_{1100}) was restricted to be between 10 and 150 poise. The uncertainties for the models relating $\ln(\eta_{1150})$ and $\ln(\eta_{1100})$ to HLW glass composition were calculated using a 90% CI (see Section 2.8.2).

⁽a) The minimum melt-cavity temperature was estimated to 961°C during idling and normal operation. However, temperatures as low as 826°C were estimated in the pour region of the melter for periods of up to 473 minutes during normal operation.

2.8.2 Glass-Composition and Property Constraints

Several glass-composition and property constraints were assumed for the glass formulation optimization. Constraints were primarily lower and/or upper limits on single components, sums of components, and glass-property estimates from property-composition models. The property-composition models used to optimize glass formulation include:

- models for PCT normalized releases of boron, lithium, and sodium (*r_B*, *r_{Li}*, *r_{Na}*) vs. composition from Piepel and Cooley (2003)
- a model relating viscosity (η) to temperature and composition from Gan et al. (2004)
- a model relating TCLP Cd release concentration (c_{Cd}) to composition from Kot et al. (2003)
- a model relating temperature at 1% crystals $(T_{0.01})$ to composition from Vienna et al. (2003).

The models for spinel phase-field $T_{0.01}$, as well as PCT ln(r_B), ln(r_{Li}), and ln(r_{Na}), had the typical first-order mixture model form:

$$f(P) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{P,i} g_i^N$$
(2.1)

where

$$g_i^N = \frac{g_i}{\sum_{i=1}^N g_i^N} \quad \text{where } \sum_{i=1}^N g_i^N = 1$$
(2.2)

= function of property P

where f(P)

 $a_{P,i} = i^{\text{th}}$ component coefficient for the property P $g_i = \text{mass fraction of } i^{\text{th}}$ component in glass $N = \text{number of components in glass for which the model was fit (dependent on property <math>P$)

 $\mathbf{E}_{i}^{\mathbf{M}}$ = normalized mass fraction of i^{th} model component.

In Equation 2.1, $f(T_{0.01}) = T_{0.01}$, and $f(r_i) = \ln(r_i)$ for i = B, Li, and Na.

The model used to estimate TCLP $\ln(c_{Cd})$ had the form:

$$ln(c_{Cd}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} a_{eCd,i} g_i^N + b_1 ln(g_{CdO})$$
(2.3)

where $a_{cCd,i}$ is the coefficient of the *i*th normalized oxide component (g_i^{a}), and b_1 is the coefficient of the natural logarithm of unnormalized CdO (g_{CdO}) in the IHLW glass.

The model for viscosity as a function of temperature and composition was given as:

$$In(q_T) - \frac{1}{T^2} \sum_i a_{\eta,i} g_i + b_0$$
(2.4)

= absolute temperature

where T

 $a_{\eta,i} = i^{\text{th}}$ component coefficient

 g_i = unnormalized mass fraction of the *i*th component in glass

 b_0 = a constant coefficient.

Note that the summation is over components *i* selected to appear in the model.

Table 2.8 lists the coefficients and goodness-of-fit statistics (R^2 , R^2_A , and *s*) for the models used based on Equations (2.1), (2.3), and (2.4). R^2 is the fraction of variation in a modeled response property

 Table 2.8.
 Summary of Model Coefficients Used to Estimate Constrained Glass Properties

	$a_{\eta,i}$	$a_{T0.01,i}$	PCT $a_{rB,i}$	PCT a_{rLiI}	PCT <i>a</i> _{rNa,i}	TCLP <i>a_{cCd,i}</i>
Component	$\eta_{\eta,i}$ η in poise	$T_{0.01}$ in °C	$r \text{ in g/m}^2$	$r \text{ in g/m}^2$	$r \text{ in g/m}^2$	c in mg/L
Al ₂ O ₃	37891514.9	3391.671	-10.1923	-7.7581	-9.8577	0.3234
B_2O_3	-2159757.3	378.066	5.5843	3.2707	2.4722	8.6749
BaO				16.4840		
CaO			-12.3992	-17.2629	-6.8451	
CdO	15321023.8					21.6666
Cr ₂ O ₃	75211455.7	27121.869				
F						
Fe ₂ O ₃	6194895.3	3637.894	-1.9050	-4.6857	-2.6664	1.0137
K ₂ O				120.4309		
Li ₂ O	-60583987.6	-2655.938	10.9736	11.5538	11.7138	9.4055
MgO				-25.1557		
MnO	2628377.0	2852.645				6.4471
Na ₂ O	-10331075.2	-1786.463	12.9950	10.7807	16.8788	10.1264
NiO	19582478.7	13169.614				
Sb ₂ O ₃	-140193402.2					
SeO ₂	162438842.9					
SiO ₂	26918300.2	393.836	-4.4708	-3.0641	-4.8793	-0.9421
SrO	-8115167.1	-479.834		-3.3994	-11.1662	6.6293
ThO ₂			-124.0320		-115.9263	-0.5965
TiO ₂				-44.3963		
Tl ₂ O ₃	12149218.8					
UO ₂				4.1184		8.776
ZnO				-10.4650		14.3107
ZrO ₂	21982480.7	4056.761		-7.7551		0.6811
b_0	-2.42258					
b_1						0.9085
Observations (<i>n</i>)	240	41	42	41	44	101
Parameters (<i>p</i>)	16	11	8	15	9	14
R^2	0.961	0.869	0.854	0.907	0.877	0.981
Adjusted R ²	0.958	0.825	0.795	0.819	0.820	0.978
S	0.2790	53.492	0.4310	0.3156	0.4114	0.2049

[i.e., f(P)] accounted for by the model and can take values from 0 to 1. \mathbb{R}^2_A is the fraction of variation in a modeled response property, adjusted for the number of fitted coefficients in the model. Finally, *s* is the root mean squared error (RMSE) of prediction errors, calculated from the data used to fit a model by (1) taking the sum-of-squares of differences in measured and predicted f(P) values, (2) dividing by the model degrees-of-freedom, n - p, where *n* is the number of data points used to fit the *p* coefficients in the model, and (3) taking the square root. If the model does not have a statistically significant lack-of-fit (LOF), then s = RMSE is an estimate of the experimental error standard deviation in fabricating glasses and measuring f(P).

Two types of model-uncertainty measures were used, both of which are uncertainties on the mean property response [i.e., f(P)] for composition x. The first model-uncertainty measure is for the mean f(P) on a single composition x, based on a confidence level (CL)% CI:

$$u_{CI%CI} = t_{CI,n-p} s \sqrt{x' (X' X)^{1} x}$$
(2.5)

The second model uncertainty measure is for the mean f(P) values corresponding to any set of compositions x, based on a CL% SCI^(a):

$$u_{CL\% SCI} = s \sqrt{p F_{CL,p,n-p} \mathbf{x}' (\mathbf{X}' \mathbf{X})^{\dagger} \mathbf{x}}$$
(2.6)

In Equations (2.5) and (2.6),

- $u_{CL\% CI}$ = uncertainty of a model prediction at composition *x* corresponding to the width of an upper CL% confidence interval on the mean transformed property *f*(*P*)
- $u_{CL\% SCI}$ = uncertainty of a model prediction at composition *x* corresponding to the width of an upper CL% simultaneous confidence interval on the mean transformed property *f*(*P*) values for any set of compositions *x*
 - CL = confidence level in percent (e.g., 90% or 95%)
 - $t_{CL,n-p} = CL^{\text{th}}$ percentile of a *t*-distribution with n p degrees-of-freedom (df) at the given confidence level
- $F_{CL,p,n-p} = CL^{\text{th}}$ percentile of an *F*-distribution with *p* numerator df and n p denominator df at the given confidence level
 - s = root mean square error
 - p = number of fit parameters in the model
 - n = number of data points used to fit the model parameters
 - x = composition vector of the glass for which the property is being predicted
 - X = matrix of glass compositions used to fit the model
 - ' = a matrix or vector transpose

"-1" superscript = a matrix inverse.

⁽a) Based on the statistical theory, the set can contain an infinite number of compositions and provide the stated simultaneous confidence about the mean f(P) values for all such compositions.

In general, uncertainties based on SCIs are larger than uncertainties based on single CIs because an SCI provides the desired confidence level for the application of a model to any number of compositions, whereas a CI only provides the desired confidence for a single composition at a time. Hence, CIs are narrower than SCIs. However, there is a higher probability of one or more CIs not containing the mean f(P) as the number of CIs for different x compositions increases.

Table 2.9 summarizes the constraints used for glass-optimization calculations, including their lower and upper limits and purposes. The glass-property constraints account for model uncertainties in

Constraints	Lower Limit	Upper Limit	Purpose
Glass Property Constraints		1	
<i>T</i> _{0.01} + <i>u</i> (90% SCI), °C	^(a)	950	
η (at 1150°C) - <i>u</i> (90% CI), poise	25		
η (at 1150°C) + <i>u</i> (90% CI), poise		60	Melter Processability
η (at 1100°C) - <i>u</i> (90% CI), poise	10		
η (at 1100°C) + <i>u</i> (90% CI), poise		150	
TCLP $c_{Cd} + u$ (90% CI), mg/L		0.48	Delisting
PCT $r_{\rm B} + u$ (95% SCI), g/m ²		8.35	
PCT $r_{\rm Li} + u$ (95% SCI), g/m ²		4.79	Waste Acceptance
PCT $r_{\text{Na}} + u$ (95% SCI), g/m ²		6.68	
Waste Loading Constraints (minimum	mass fractior	ı from wast	e for at least one
constraint)			
Fe ₂ O ₃	0.125		
Fe ₂ O ₃ Al ₂ O ₃	0.125		TS-1.1 (only the active
$\frac{Al_2O_3}{Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2}$			TS-1.1 (only the active constraints are listed).
Al ₂ O ₃	0.11		· ·
$\frac{Al_2O_3}{Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2}$	0.11 0.21 0.14		· ·
$\begin{array}{c} Al_2O_3\\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2\\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14		· ·
$\begin{array}{l} Al_2O_3 \\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ \end{array}$ Single-Component Constraints (in mass	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction)		· ·
$\begin{array}{l} Al_2O_3\\ Fe_2O_3+Al_2O_3+ZrO_2\\ Al_2O_3+ZrO_2\\ \end{array}$ Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_2O_3)	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03		· ·
$\begin{array}{c} Al_2O_3 \\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_2O_3 \\ B_2O_3 \\ \hline \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03	 	constraints are listed).
$\begin{array}{c} Al_2O_3 \\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_2O_3 \\ B_2O_3 \\ \hline \textbf{CdO} \\ \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03	 0.016 0.005 or	constraints are listed).
$\begin{array}{c} Al_2O_3 \\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_2O_3 \\ B_2O_3 \\ CdO \\ Cr_2O_3 \\ \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03 0.05 	 0.016 0.005 or 0.01 ^(b)	constraints are listed). Model Validity (only the
$\begin{array}{c} Al_2O_3 \\ Fe_2O_3 + Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ Al_2O_3 + ZrO_2 \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_2O_3 \\ B_2O_3 \\ \hline \textbf{CdO} \\ Cr_2O_3 \\ \hline Fe_2O_3 \\ \hline \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03 0.05 	 0.016 0.005 or 0.01 ^(b) 0.14	constraints are listed). Model Validity (only the active constraints are
$\begin{array}{c} Al_{2}O_{3} \\ Fe_{2}O_{3} + Al_{2}O_{3} + ZrO_{2} \\ Al_{2}O_{3} + ZrO_{2} \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass Al_{2}O_{3} \\ B_{2}O_{3} \\ CdO \\ \hline Cr_{2}O_{3} \\ Fe_{2}O_{3} \\ \hline Fe_{2}O_{3} \\ Li_{2}O \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03 0.05 	 0.016 0.005 or 0.01 ^(b) 0.14 0.05	constraints are listed). Model Validity (only the active constraints are
$\begin{array}{c} Al_{2}O_{3} \\ Fe_{2}O_{3} + Al_{2}O_{3} + ZrO_{2} \\ Al_{2}O_{3} + ZrO_{2} \\ \hline \textbf{Single-Component Constraints (in mass)} \\ Al_{2}O_{3} \\ B_{2}O_{3} \\ CdO \\ Cr_{2}O_{3} \\ \hline Fe_{2}O_{3} \\ Fe_{2}O_{3} \\ \hline Li_{2}O \\ MnO \\ \end{array}$	0.11 0.21 0.14 s fraction) 0.03 0.05 	 0.016 0.005 or 0.01 ^(b) 0.14 0.05 0.07	constraints are listed). Model Validity (only the active constraints are

Table 2.9.	Glass-Composition and Property Constraints Used for Glass-Formulation
	Optimization

(b) Different variations for Cr_2O_3 concentration limits were considered. The 0.5% constraint is supported by current data. However, there is some indication that 1.0% may be possible with additional research efforts.

determining acceptable boundaries. Out of the 25 waste-loading constraints given in Table TS-1.1 of the WTP Contract (DOE-ORP 2000), the four that are relevant to the current evaluation^(a) are given in Table 2.9.

The property-composition models, as empirical relationships, are only valid over fixed component concentration ranges. Model-validity constraints were added to ensure that the glass composition did not deviate from the ranges of model validity. Although there are some differences in the validity ranges between models, one set of the single-component ranges that are common for all the property models was used for the simplicity of glass-optimization calculations. Only single-component concentration constraints were used to define the model-validity range, although, in some cases, multi-component constraints were used to develop the glass-property data used for model fitting. Table 2.9 also lists these single-component constraints for model validity.

2.9 Glass Formulation Calculations

The glass composition is calculated from a mass balance:

$$\boldsymbol{g}_i = \boldsymbol{W} \, \boldsymbol{w}_i + (1 - \boldsymbol{W}) \, \boldsymbol{a}_i \tag{2.7}$$

- where $g_i = \text{mass fraction of the } i^{\text{th}} \text{ component in glass}$
 - W = mass fraction of waste in glass (simply called "waste loading")
 - w_i = mass fraction of the *i*th component in waste
 - $a_i =$ mass fraction of the *i*th component in additives.

The initial optimization calculation involves finding the maximum *W* for each waste while satisfying all the constraints listed in Table 2.9. The *W* is always limited by more than one constraint after one of the Table TS-1.1 constraints is met. Stated in another way, other constraints must be satisfied in addition to satisfying one of the Table TS-1.1 limits for there to be an acceptable composition. For example, if one of the property constraints was met for a particular waste, the additive composition would be adjusted until at least one additional constraint was met, including model-validity constraints. For a glass limited by a single-component concentration constraint for components that come from waste, a unique optimum composition cannot be obtained.

Actual measured waste compositions were used as inputs for these calculations. Since a Ni crucible was used for solid sample fusions and Ni may influence $T_{0.01}$ values, the starting concentrations for Ni were assumed to be present in all leached sludges. The set of RPP-WTP additives (a in equation 2.7) or GFCs, used in this optimization, are listed in Table 2.10. Also listed is the mass fraction of glass oxide components in each of the GFCs.

The initial optimization process revealed that each waste was limited only by single component constraints. Specifically, the loading of each waste in glass was determined by the allowable concentrations of either MnO (7 mass% in glass) or Cr_2O_3 (0.5 mass% in glass). Since there is some

⁽a) For the possible glass compositions corresponding to the waste compositions in this evaluation, only 4 of the 25 waste loading conditions have any chance of being violated.

				Sodium	Lithium
Oxide	Silica	Zincite	Borax	Carbonate	Carbonate
Al ₂ O ₃	0.00135	0	0	0	0
B ₂ O ₃	0	0	0.3750	0	0
CaO	0.00008	0	0	0	0
CdO	0	0.0001	0	0	0
Cl	0	0	0	0.0002	0.0001
Cr ₂ O ₃	0	0	0	0	0.0001
Fe ₂ O ₃	0.00016	0	0	0	0
K ₂ O	0	0	0	0	0
Li ₂ O	0	0	0	0	0.4020
MgO	0.00008	0	0	0	0.0001
MnO	0	0	0	0	0
Na ₂ O	0.00019	0	0.1670	0.5837	0.0008
NiO	0	0	0	0	0
P ₂ O ₅	0	0	0	0	0
PbO	0	0	0	0	0
SiO ₂	0.9970	0	0	0	0
SO ₃	0	0	0	0.0001	0.0003
TiO ₂	0.00008	0	0	0	0
UO ₂	0	0	0	0	0
V ₂ O ₅	0	0	0	0	0
ZnO	0	0.9990	0	0	0
ZrO ₂	0	0	0	0	0
Total	0.99894	0.9991	0.5420	0.5842	0.4027

 Table 2.10.
 Mass Fractions and Uncertainty Ranges of Oxides in Each GFC

evidence that the concentration of Cr_2O_3 in glass may be increased with additional research (Vienna et al. 2002), a second set of calculations was performed using a Cr_2O_3 concentration constraint of 1 mass%.

3.0 Results and Discussion

This section discusses the analyses of washed SY-102 and SX-101 sludge solids with various techniques. It also discusses oxidative leach testing, the dissolution of non-radioactive and radioactive components, and the glass volumes resulting from immobilization of SX-101 and SY-102 sludge as a function of oxidative-alkaline leaching.

3.1 ICP-AES and Radiochemical Analysis of Washed SY-102 and SX-101 Sludge Solids

As noted in the introduction, to eliminate potential side reactions involving the oxidation of soluble organic compounds, the sludges were washed repeatedly with 0.1 M NaOH. In addition, this washing process removed all readily soluble chromium from the sludge, allowing the testing to focus on removing the dilute hydroxide-insoluble chromium. After each contact, the wash solution separated from the solids by centrifugation. At least five contacts, each at about a 5:1 solution to solids volume, were performed, after which it was assumed, based on previous experience, that the bulk of the water-soluble components had been removed from the interstitial liquid in the sludges. The residual solids were then suspended in dilute NaOH, and aliquots were taken for analysis.

Samples of the washed solids were dissolved by KOH fusion followed by nitric acid dissolution. The metals composition was determined by ICP-AES, and the radionuclide content was evaluated by AEA and GEA. Table 2.4 shows the concentrations of the major bulk components in the washed sludges. For both SX-101 and SY-102, aluminum is the primary metal present, followed by chromium. Substantial amounts of iron, sodium, manganese, and silicon (for SY-102) were also detected. The uranium content of the washed SX-101 solids was about a factor of four higher than that for the washed SY-102 solids.

Table 2.5 summarized the major radionuclide contents of the two washed sludges. Overall, the radionuclide concentrations in the washed sludges are similar: however, there is an order-of-magnitude greater plutonium and two orders of magnitude greater americium concentration in the washed SY-102 sludge than in the washed SX-101 sludge.

3.2 Analysis of the SY-102 and SX-101 Solids by XRD

The distribution and composition of the major sludge components was explored by X-ray powder diffraction to identify any crystalline phases and SEM/EDS to evaluate the distribution of the dominant metals present in the washed sludges.

The X-ray powder patterns obtained, as well as the patterns of the major identified phases, are shown in Figure 3.1 and Figure 3.2. For both sludges, the major crystalline material present is gibbsite, Al(OH)₃. For SX-101, a second phase was also identified, that of the uranium(VI) mineral, clarkeite, Na[UO₂(O)(OH)]. The presence of detectable quantities of a uranium-containing mineral in the washed SX-101 sludge is consistent with the greater concentrations of uranium found in that sludge.



Figure 3.1. XRD Measurement (top) and Identified Pattern (bottom) for Washed SY-102 Sludge Solids



Figure 3.2. XRD Measurement (top) and Identified Pattern (bottom) for Washed SX-101 Sludge Solids

3.3 SEM/EDS Analysis of the SY-102 and SX-101 solids

3.3.1 SY-102 Washed Solids

The SEM-EDS analysis of washed SX-101 and SY-102 sludge solids reveals information about the distribution of the major metals in the sludge. A picture of the predominant solid particles observed for SY-102, together with a mapping of the major bulk components as indicated by EDS, the EDS spectrum itself and a magnified view are shown in Figure 3.3 through Figure 3.6, respectively. Table 3.1 reports the metals concentrations from the EDS analysis.

The majority of the particles found in the small SY-102 sludge samples examined were similar in size and shape to that shown in Figure 3.3 and Figure 3.5, namely irregularly-shaped solids with a "spongy" texture. A second type of particle was observed in the SY-102 washed solids. This particle appears to have a much better defined shape (Figure 3.7) and the EDS analysis indicates aluminum to be the primary metallic element present. The particle is likely that of the crystalline gibbsite revealed to be present by the XRD analysis.



Figure 3.3. SEM Image of the SY-102 Particle Used for EDS Map

FastMap5



Figure 3.4. EDS Map of SY-102 Particle



Figure 3.5. Expanded View of SY-102 Particle



Figure 3.6. EDS Analysis of Figure 3.5 (Box 2)



Table 3.1.Data Output from EDS analysis of Figure 3.5 (Box 2)

In short, XRD and SEM analysis of SY-102 solids indicate that aluminum, iron, and chromium tend to be uniformly distributed in the bulk of the solids, with the exception of crystalline particles containing solely gibbsite. The presence of aluminum as gibbsite bodes well for the success of alkaline leaching at removing the bulk of the components from the tank sludge.



Figure 3.7. Aluminum-Rich Particle in Washed SY-102 Sludge

3.3.2 SX-101 Washed Solids

One major type of sludge particle was observed by SEM; the characteristics of that particle are summarized by the SEM image in Figure 3.8, by the EDS spectrum in Figure 3.9, by the relative metal concentrations in the area as determined by EDS analysis in Table 3.2, and by a EDS mapping of the distribution of the major observed metals in the washed SX-101 particle in Figure 3.10.



Figure 3.8. SEM of SX-101 Particle and Region Examined by EDS



Figure 3.9. EDS Spectrum for SX-101 Particle

Elt.	Line	Intensity (c/s)	Error 2-sig	Conc		
Na	Ka	1.05	0.625	0.944	wt.%	
Al	Ka	17.28	1.948	7.892	wt.%	
Si	Ka	0.46	0.673	0.190	wt.%	
Cr	Ka	97.49	4.905	48.653	wt.%	
Mn	Ka	28.16	3.129	16.807	wt.%	
Fe	Ka	30.85	3.180	23.790	wt.%	
U	Ma	3.78	1.528	1.352	wt.%	
Pu	Ma	1.07	1.447	0.372	wt.%	
				100.000	wt.%	Total
kV		20.0				
Take	eoff An	gle 35.0	0			
Elap	sed Liv	etime 20.0				

Table 3.2.Data for EDS of SX-101 Particle

FastMap5



Figure 3.10. EDS Mapping of Major Observed Components in the SX-101 Particle

As with the SY-102 particle, the major observed components chromium, manganese, and iron seem to be broadly and evenly distributed throughout the particle. Aluminum, silica, and sodium are evenly distributed throughout much of the particle but appear to be less abundant towards the top. Finally, a broad view revealed some small irregular solids composed mostly of aluminum. Due to the irregular shape of this particle, some sort of amorphous Al(OH)₃ is postulated for its composition. No pure uranium crystalline phases were found, despite the identification of clarkeite by XRD.

In summary, both the washed SY-102 and SX-101 solids appear to be mostly composed of particles in which the major bulk components are evenly distributed. Of the crystalline material for SY-102, a

single crystalline species, gibbsite, was identified by XRD, and the identification was supported by the SEM-EDS analysis. For SX-101, the XRD analysis also identified crystalline gibbsite as well as a crystalline uranium(VI) phase, clarkeite, but corresponding pure aluminum or uranium-containing particles were not found by SEM-EDS. As the SEM-EDS analysis involves examining only a few particles in a subsample of the washed solids, drawing conclusions by extrapolating these results to the entire system must be done with caution. Still, it does provide at least a qualitative insight as to the distribution of metals in the washed sludge solids.

3.4 Oxidative Leach Testing—Experimental Design and Execution

The conditions chosen for oxidative-alkaline leach testing have been summarized in Table 2.7 in the Experimental Section. These conditions were chosen to focus on three process variables: temperature, hydroxide concentration, and the order of alkaline leaching processes. In all cases, the initial solids volume to total leachate volume was kept constant at 1:4 (1 part settled sludge volume and three parts added solution volume). Tests 1 and 2 explore the possibility of combining a high hydroxide, high temperature, leach for aluminum removal with concomitant permanganate addition for chromium removal. Test 1 uses the standard caustic-leaching conditions (3 M NaOH, 85°C) while Test 2 explores the impact of a potential upset condition of excess permanganate and hydroxide at elevated temperature.

Tests 3 and 4 and Tests 5 and 6 explore the impact of temperature and the order of alkaline leach operations. In all cases, the targeted oxidative-alkaline leach conditions employ a targeted slight stoichiometric excess of permanganate and a low (0.25 M) initial hydroxide concentration in the leachate. Within the groups of tests (3 and 4 and also 5 and 6) the variable is that of temperature (ambient temperature, 25°C, or elevated temperature, 85°C). Between Tests 3 and 4 and Tests 5 and 6, the order of leaching is examined. For Tests 3 and 4, a caustic leach was performed before oxidative leaching, and for Tests 5 and 6, a standard caustic leach was performed following oxidative-alkaline leaching.

In previous oxidative-alkaline leach tests examining the effect of free hydroxide concentration, the lower initial hydroxide concentrations were typically lower than those targeted in this test. The reason for this lies in the lower leachate-to-solids ratio in these tests compared to those previously. Table 3.3 and Table 3.4 used the wt % insoluble solids in the initial washed solid slurries together with the amounts of slurry used for each test reported in Table 2.6 to calculate the mass of washed solids and using the chromium concentrations in the washed solids reported in Table 2.4 to calculate the total moles of chromium in the test samples. Table 3.3 and Table 3.4 indicate that approximately 1 mmol (SX-101) and 1.7 mmol (SY-102) of chromium were present for each test. As noted in the introduction section, the reaction of permanganate with Cr(III) hydroxide to form manganese dioxide and chromate consumes 1 equivalent of hydroxide, and if other reduced manganese species are formed, the hydroxide

Table 3.3. Sub-Sampling of Washed SY-102 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing

Sample	Washed solids (g)	Mass Cr in Sample (g)	Mmol Cr in Sample
SY-102-1	1.22	0.09	1.72
SY-102-2	1.23	0.09	1.73
SY-102-3	1.21	0.09	1.70
SY-102-4	1.20	0.09	1.70
SY-102-5	1.18	0.09	1.66
SY-102-6	1.24	0.09	1.74

Sample	Washed solids (g)	Mass Cr in Sample (g)	Mmol Cr in Sample
SX-101-1	1.12	0.06	1.11
SX-101-2	1.11	0.06	1.10
SX-101-3	1.30	0.07	1.29
SX-101-4	1.16	0.06	1.15
SX-101-5	0.93	0.05	0.92
SX-101-6	1.03 ^(a)	0.05	1.02
		y subtracting total mass of sli ds calculated to be present in	5

 Table 3.4.
 Sub-Sampling of Washed SX-101 Solids for Oxidative-Alkaline Leach Testing

consumption is even greater. This implies that at least 1 (SX-101) and 1.7 mmol (SY-102) of hydroxide from the oxidative-alkaline leach solution would be consumed during chromium oxidation. This corresponds to a decrease of about 0.063 to 0.106 M in the initial hydroxide concentration. So for these tests, the initial free hydroxide concentration was targeted so that chromium oxidation could go to completion while keeping a modest free hydroxide concentration in solution. It should be noted that aluminum dissolution would be expected to consume one equivalent of hydroxide. This implies that between 7.7 mmol (SY-102) and 9.4 mmol (SX-101) of hydroxide could be consumed by aluminum dissolution. This would correspond to an approximate decrease in free hydroxide concentration from 0.48 M (SY-102) to 0.59 M (SX-101) at the solid/solution ratios used. In short, the low hydroxide concentration experiments possess only enough free hydroxide for the chromium reaction. The high hydroxide tests possess enough hydroxide to oxidize chromium and dissolve aluminum. The separate caustic leaches associated with the low hydroxide oxidative leach supply enough hydroxide in this separate step to dissolve all aluminum not consumed by the oxidative-alkaline leach treatment.

As noted in the Experimental Section, two 0.1-ml sample aliquots were removed at 2, 6, and 24-hour contact times. Assuming no losses due to evaporation, this would remove 0.6/16 ml or about 4% of the leachate solution. No attempt to correct for these losses has been made in the analyses reported below, primarily due to an inability to account for any time dependence in the dissolution of most components together with the varying and unmonitored changes in leachate volume due to evaporation.

The general set-up procedure is described as follows: excess liquid was removed from the initial slurry by centrifugation/decantation. To the residual solids, DI water, 10 M NaOH, and 0.5 M NaMnO₄ in water were combined in this order as described in Table 3.5 to meet the test conditions as described in Table 2.7 above.

Because high volumes of reagent stock solutions were required to add sufficient equivalents of hydroxide and manganese in Test #2, a 4:1 total volume: slurry volume could not be achieved if the stock solution of 0.5 M sodium permanganate in water was used to introduce the permanganate; solid sodium permanganate was used instead. After the reagents were added, the vials were capped, and the centrifuged solids were resuspended by vortex mixing before being placed in an aluminum block on top of a rotary shaker to agitate the solids at temperature. This procedure represents a change in equipment from previous oxidative leach testing and avoids any artifacts due to a magnetic stirring bar being present in the system. The 25°C tests were capped tightly: the 85°C tests were capped loosely.

Test	Added 0.5 M NaMnO ₄ (ml)	Added 10 M NaOH (ml)	Added DI Water (ml)
SX-101-1	2.5	4.8	4.7
SX-101-2	0.033*	6	6
SX-101-3	2.85	0.4	8.75
SX-101-4	2.5	0.4	9.1
SX-101-5	2.02	0.4	9.58
SX-101-6	2.4	0.4	9.2
SY-102-1	3.8	4.8	3.4
SY-102-2	0.055 ^(a)	6	6
SY-102-3	3.74	0.4	7.86
SY-102-4	3.8	0.4	7.8
SY-102-5	3.66	0.4	7.94
SY-102-6	3.9	0.4	7.7
(a) Grams of	f solid NaMnO ₄ ad	ded.	

 Table 3.5.
 Added Reagents in Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching Setup (assuming 4 ml sludge)

After approximately 2 hours, 6 hours, and 24 hours of contact time, the vials were tightly capped and centrifuged, the supernatants were sampled, the centrifuged solids were resuspended by vortex mixing, and the vials were returned to the rotary shaker/heater as needed. For the 25°C tests, with the exception of the SY-102-5 test, the presence of permanganate/manganate could still be seen visually after 2 hours. For the SY-102-5 test, another 0.1 equivalent (0.36 ml) of 0.5 M sodium permanganate in water was added at this point. After 6 hours, the SY-102-5 test was again yellow, indicative of permanganate consumption, but no further permanganate was added.

For the 85°C oxidative leach tests, after 2 hours, all visual signs of permanganate had disappeared, with the exception of Test SX-101-6. For the samples with no visual presence of permanganate, 0.5 ml (approximately 0.1 to 0.2 equivalents additional permanganate) was added. After 6 hours, all of the SY-102 leachates and the SX-101-2 leachate showed no visual signs of permanganate; at this point, another 0.5 ml of 0.5 M sodium permanganate solution was added to these leachate solutions. After 24 hours of contact time, only the SX-101-6 test showed visual indications of the presence of permanganate in solution. In addition, a small but visually apparent decrease in the leachate solution volumes was apparent for Tests SX-101-2, SY-102-4, and SY-102-6. Larger decreases in the solution volume were apparent for the SX-101-4 and SX-101-6 tests.

One mishap occurred during the final solid-liquid separation washings with 0.1 M NaOH and analytical sampling. One pipette full of the first wash solution (estimated 2 to 2.5 ml) from Test SY-102-6 was added to the receipt container for SY-102-4. Because it was a wash solution instead of the actual leachate solution and because it was a relatively small amount of the wash solution, its impact on subsequent analysis is believed to be minor.

3.5 Dissolution of Non-Radioactive Components

Table 3.6 summarizes the overall removal of the major non-radioactive components present in the washed SX-101 and SY-102 solids as a function of the differing oxidative-alkaline leach methods tested.

	% Component Removal					
Test #	Al	Cr	Fe	Mn	Si	U
SX-101-1	96	96	< 0.1	0	42	0
SX-101-2	96	66	0.3	0	43	0
SX-101-3	83	87	0.3	0	46	0
SX-101-4	89	94	0.3	0	50	0
SX-101-5	97	65	0.6	0	55	0
SX-101-6	97	97	0.3	0.2	67	0
SY-102-1	86	94	< 0.1	0	17	0
SY-102-2	88	46	< 0.1	0	22	0
SY-102-3	76	80	0.1	63	32	0
SY-102-4	78	95	0.2	0	36	0
SY-102-5	94	75	0.2	0	31	0
SY-102-6	89	96	< 0.1	0	28	0

Table 3.6.Major Component Removal from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed-Sludges by Oxidative-
Alkaline Leaching

These component removals were calculated by summing the total mass of each component found in all leach solutions together with the mass of the component in the residual solids and calculating the fraction of mass removed in the leachate from the calculated total mass.

As expected, the oxidative-alkaline leaching primarily dissolves both aluminum and chromium. Generally, aluminum removals are good to excellent (> 80%, often > 90%). Somewhat surprisingly, the combined 3 to 5 M NaOH/permanganate treatments seem to be somewhat more effective at aluminum removal (about 10% increased component removal) than sequential 3 M NaOH and dilute hydroxide/permanganate treatments.

Generally, removal of chromium also is high, but the dependence of chromium removals varies more with the leach conditions, ranging from > 50% to > 95%. Test conditions #2 (5 M NaOH, excess permanganate, 85°C) and #5 (25°C, 0.25 M NaOH followed by 3 M NaOH, 85°C) are markedly less effective at chromium removal. An inability to access and oxidize chromium because of the presence of undissolved aluminum in Test #5 could explain this behavior, but the reason for the poorer performance at chromium removal under conditions of 5 M NaOH/excess permanganate is unknown.

Significant amounts of Si are removed during leaching, but the amount appears to be independent of the leach conditions (but not the sludge type). Minor amounts of iron are removed, and the fractions removed appear to be independent of both the leach conditions and sludge type.

3.5.1 Chromium Dissolution and Chromate Formation

All oxidative leach solutions and subsequent washes were analyzed both by ICP-AES for the total chromium concentrations and by spectrophotometry for the chromate concentrations. In addition, the prior and subsequent 3 M NaOH/85°C leach and washes were analyzed in this manner as well. Table 3.7 compares the total chromium concentration of chromium measured in these leach solutions with the chromate concentrations.

Sample	$[CrO_4^{2-}], M^{(a)}$	$[Cr]_{T}, M^{(b)}$	$[Cr]_{T}/[CrO_{4}^{2}]$				
SX-101-1 OL ^(c)	2.25E-02	2.26E-02	1.00E+00				
SX-101-2 OL	1.87E-02	1.75E-02	9.36E-01				
SX-101-3 OL	3.84E-02	3.69E-02	9.60E-01				
SX-101-4 OL	2.92E-02	2.98E-02	1.02E+00				
SX-101-5 OL	2.61E-02	3.29E-03	1.26E-01				
SX-101-6 OL	1.52E-02	1.46E-02	9.57E-01				
SX-101-3 IL	3.91E-03	3.44E-03	8.80E-01				
SX-101-4 IL	2.68E-03	2.52E-03	9.42E-01				
SX-101-5 FL	3.46E-03	3.31E-03	9.56E-01				
SX-101-6 FL	8.74E-04	8.63E-04	9.88E-01				
SY-102-1 OL	4.09E-02	3.79E-02	9.26E-01				
SY-102-2 OL	1.88E-02	1.83E-02	9.73E-01				
SY-102-3 OL	4.70E-02	4.68E-02	9.96E-01				
SY-102-4 OL	3.59E-02	3.66E-02	1.02E+00				
SY-102-5 OL	6.19E-02	7.17E-03	1.16E-01				
SY-102-6 OL	5.18E-02	4.96E-02	9.58E-01				
SY-102-3 IL	3.22E-03	3.17E-03	9.87E-01				
SY-102-4 IL	3.54E-03	3.42E-03	9.66E-01				
SY-102-5 FL	7.23E-03	7.08E-03	9.80E-01				
SY-102-6 FL 3.77E-03 4.54E-03 1.20E+00							
	by visible spectrosc	copy.					
(b) As determined	by ICP-AES.						

Table 3.7. Chromate Versus Total Chromium Comparison in Washed SX-101 and SY-102 **Alkaline Leach Solutions**

(c) OL = oxidative-alkaline leach solution

IL = caustic-leach solution before oxidative-alkaline leaching

FL = caustic-leach solution subsequent to oxidative-alkaline leaching.

Overall, the agreement between total chromium and chromate measurements is excellent, well within the 15% uncertainty claimed for the ICP-AES measurements of chromium. Three exceptions are noted: SY-102-5 oxidative leachate, SX-101-5 oxidative leachate, and the SY-102-6 final caustic leachate. In SY-102-5 and SX-101-5, the total chromium concentrations are less than the chromate concentrations by a significant quantity. It is impossible to have less chromium than chromate, but the source of the discrepancy is unknown. It may be that the ICP-AES analysis of the leachate solutions is low: not only are the measured chromate concentrations higher, but the overall mass balance is low for chromium specifically. The impact of this low ICP-AES value is significant; if the Cr concentrations based on chromate are used instead of the ICP-AES data, the removal of Cr increases from 65% to 90% for SX-101-5 and from 75% to 94% for SY-102-5. The SY-102-6 final leachate solution is the only solution that appears to have slightly more total chromium than chromate. No Cr(III) was detected by spectrophotometry, but the low extinction coefficients for Cr(III) compared to Cr(VI) indicate that such a low Cr(III) concentration suggested by the difference would be below detection limits.

The rate of chromate formation during oxidative leaching was monitored spectrophotometrically. The results are illustrated in Figure 3.11 and Figure 3.12.



Figure 3.11. Chromate Formation During Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching of Washed SX-101 Sludge



Figure 3.12. Chromate Formation During Oxidative Alkaline Leaching of Washed SY-102 Sludge
The results from the SX-101 testing appear more scattered than the results from the SY-102 testing; the reason for this is unknown. Overall, consistent with prior reports, it appears that most of the chromate formation occurs within the first 6 hours. Increases observed between 6 to 24 hours might be due in part to the evaporation losses noted previously, which would effectively increase the observed chromate concentration without increasing the amount of total dissolved chromium. Otherwise, the trends become difficult to interpret. For example, test conditions -4 and -6 differ from test conditions -3 and -5 only in the leach temperature (85°C versus 25°C, respectively). Yet in both cases, the 85°C contact shows further apparent increases in chromate concentration. With the reasonable assumption that increases in temperature should correspond to more rapid reaction, the 85°C should be complete sooner than the 25°C, which is not what is observed. On the other hand, if concentration due to evaporation is more prevalent, albeit variable, at 85°C than at 25°C, even if chromate formation were complete after 6 hours in both cases, consistent with these experimental findings, an apparent increase in the production of chromate would be observed.

3.6 Radionuclide Dissolution

One concern about employing oxidative-alkaline leaching is that concomitant oxidation of plutonium to Pu(VI) would lead to a problematic enhanced dissolution of plutonium. To evaluate this possibility, the radionuclide content of the leachate and wash solutions was measured by GEA and AEA to determine the extent of radionuclide dissolution, in particular actinide dissolution. The results are shown in Table 3.8.

The results for both the SY-102 and SX-101 sludges show similar trends. The only radionuclides that show any significant dissolution are plutonium and Cs. The Cs dissolution tends to be fairly constant at around 30 to 40% dissolution regardless of the sludge type or reaction conditions.

	% Component Removal						
Test	^{239,240} Pu	²⁴¹ Am	^{243,244} Cm	Total α	⁶⁰ Co	¹³⁷ Cs	¹⁵⁴ Eu
SX-101-1	13	< 0.01	< 0.01	3.2	< 0.01	27	< 0.01
SX-101-2	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33	< 0.01
SX-101-3	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33 ^(a)	< 0.01
SX-101-4	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	33 ^(a)	< 0.01
SX-101-5	$1.1^{(a)}$	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.3 ^(a)	< 0.01	38	< 0.01
SX-101-6	2.8 ^(a)	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.7 ^(a)	< 0.01	29	< 0.01
SY-102-1	0.6	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.1	< 0.01	22	< 0.01
SY-102-2	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	37	< 0.01
SY-102-3	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	40 ^(a)	< 0.01
SY-102-4	< 0.1	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1	< 0.01	41 ^(a)	< 0.01
SY-102-5	< 0.1 ^(a)	< 0.01	< 0.01	$< 0.1^{(a)}$	< 0.01	41 ^(a)	< 0.01
SY-102-6	0.2 ^(a)	< 0.01	< 0.01	< 0.1 ^(a)	< 0.01	37	< 0.01
(a) Component fraction removed during standard caustic leach greater than that removed during oxidative-alkaline leaching.							

Table 3.8.	Radionuclide Removals from SX-101 and SY-102 Washed Sludges by Oxidative-
	Alkaline Leaching

With respect to plutonium dissolution, adding permanganate to a standard caustic-leach solution (i.e., condition number 1) results in the most enhanced plutonium dissolution of all the leach conditions tested. Interestingly, increasing the initial hydroxide concentration still further, from 3 to 5 M, in the presence of a greater excess of permanganate, causes a drop in the amount of plutonium dissolved. Performing a standard caustic leach following permanganate addition (i.e., conditions 5 and 6) results in more plutonium dissolution than reversing the order and performing an initial caustic leach followed by a low hydroxide oxidative leach (i.e., conditions 3 and 4). Notably, in these cases (conditions 5 and 6), the bulk of the plutonium dissolution is found during the subsequent caustic leach and not during the oxidative leach. The reasons for this are unclear, but perhaps it is a kinetic effect: additional plutonium dissolves during oxidative leaching but reprecipitates during cooling/washing. This freshly reprecipitated plutonium then more rapidly redissolves during the relatively short 8-hour contact times of the standard caustic leach. Finally, performing the oxidative leach at 85°C (conditions 4 and 6) results in a small enhancement in plutonium dissolution compared to performing a 25°C oxidative leach (conditions 3 and 5). In almost all cases, though, the extent of plutonium dissolution is relatively minor, especially when compared to the extent of aluminum and chromium removal described above.

Samples for plutonium analysis were collected of the oxidative-alkaline leachate solutions themselves after 2, 6, and 24 contact times, with the 2- and 24-hour contact times measured for plutonium. Soon after removal from the leachate, these samples were placed into a strongly acidic solution within a few seconds of removal to prevent plutonium hydrolysis and reprecipitation. This approach allows monitoring the extent of changes in dissolved plutonium, much like the rate of chromate formation was monitored. The results of this monitoring of plutonium dissolution are summarized in Figure 3.13 and Figure 3.14:



Figure 3.13. Rate of Plutonium Dissolution in Oxidative-Alkaline Leachate Solutions Contacted with Washed SX-101 Sludge Solids



Figure 3.14. Rates of Plutonium Dissolution in Oxidative-Alkaline Leachate Solutions Contacted with Washed SY-102 Sludge Solids

In general, increases in the amount of dissolved plutonium are observed as a result of increased contact time, suggesting that optimal contact times may need to balance the extent of chromate formation with the extent of plutonium dissolution.

3.7 Glass Volumes or Immobilization of SX-101 and SY-102 Sludge as a Function of Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching

The ultimate goal of oxidative-alkaline leaching is to reduce the amount of IHLW produced while producing a leachate that can be made into acceptable immobilized low-activity waste (ILAW). In this section, we attempt to evaluate how effective the various test conditions were at achieving that goal. To evaluate the effectiveness of various leach conditions, we calculated the amount of glass required to immobilize one arbitrary unit of treated sludge. Three sets of loadings were calculated, one based on the DOE's minimum contract requirements (TS-1.1 in Table 3.9), one using the current WTP baseline model for IHLW, and one using an expanded model with a relaxed restriction on chromium concentration. Table 3.9 summarizes the results of the IHLW calculations as well as providing the limiting constituent to immobilizing the treated sludge.

The mass changes between the initial washed sludge used for testing and the actual metals content as determined by ICP-AES of the treated solids were used in the calculations summarized in Table 3.9. However, no test was performed only looking at the impact of a standard caustic leach; therefore, evaluating the loading of only a caustic leach required a different approach. From the data in tests -3 and

	Units of Glas	s Produced/Unit Ti	eated Sludge		
	(waste limiting component/condition)				
	TS-1.1	Current	Expanded		
Washed SX-101	$15.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$15.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$7.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
Caustic-Leached SX-101	$17.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$17.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$8.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
SX-101-1	$0.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.6(MnO = 7.0)	1.6(MnO = 7.0)		
SX-101-2	$5.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$5.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
SX-101-3	$2.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.2(MnO = 7.0)		
SX-101-4	$0.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.3(MnO = 7.0)	1.3(MnO = 7.0)		
SX-101-5	$1.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$1.6(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.4(MnO = 7.0)		
SX-101-6	$0.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.1(MnO = 7.0)	1.1(MnO = 7.0)		
Washed SY-102	$21.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$21.4(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$10.7(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
Caustic-Leached SY-102	$8.2(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$8.2(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$4.1(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
SY-102-1	$1.1(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.9(MnO = 7.0)	1.9(MnO = 7.0)		
SY-102-2	$13.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$13.0(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$6.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
SY-102-3	$4.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$4.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	$2.5(Cr_2O_3 = 1.0)$		
SY-102-4	$1.3(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	2.0(MnO = 7.0)	2.0(MnO = 7.0)		
SY-102-5	$1.8(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	1.8(MnO = 7.0)	1.8(MnO = 7.0)		
SY-102-6	$0.9(Cr_2O_3 = 0.5)$	2.1(MnO = 7.0)	2.1(MnO = 7.0)		
TS-1.1 = contract minimum loadings.					
Current = WTP baseline.					
Expanded = using an expanded region of validity for glass properties models.					

 Table 3.9.
 Calculated Effectiveness of Oxidative-Alkaline Leaching on IHLW Volumes

-4, where an initial 3 M NaOH/85°C caustic leach was performed, the total amount of each component was obtained. This was calculated from the initial estimate of sludge used in the test multiplied by the metals concentration in the washed sludge solids. The total mass of each metal component removed during caustic leaching was determined by the total volume of leachate multiplied by each metal component's concentration in the leachate. The total amount in the leachate was subtracted from the total amount initially present to give the total amount of each component in the caustic-leached solids. These values were then converted to metal oxide wt%, assuming only that the measured metal oxides were present in the caustic-leached solids and these amounts normalized to one gram of initial washed sludge. The resulting weight percent metal oxides then were used in the IHLW calculations.

Note that despite the very high aluminum concentrations (see Table 2.4) present in the washed SY-102 and SX-101 sludges, chromium remains the limiting component to sludge loading in IHLW. Performing a simple caustic leach yields little (SX-101) to a modest (SY-102) reduction in the amount of IHLW produced. The calculations actually show an increase in the amount of IHLW produced if a simple caustic leach is performed; we believe this to be an artifact of the indirect approach taken to obtain the composition of a caustic-leached sludge. The condition of 5 M NaOH/excess permanganate provides relatively poor removal of chromium and is the least effective condition for reducing the amount of IHLW. The most effective conditions are where the oxidative-alkaline leach is performed at 85°C

(Tests -1, -4, and -6), where greater than an order of magnitude reduction in IHLW is predicted. Indeed, in these cases, manganese now replaces chromium as the limiting component in the amount of sludge loaded into IHLW.

Since chromium is the limiting component, one might expect the percent removals to correlate well to the amount of IHLW generated. Figure 3.15 through Figure 3.18 examine this hypothesis. The first two figures compare the units of IHLW per unit of initial SX-101 or SY-102 washed sludge or per unit of leached SX-101 or SY-102 sludge. It should be noted that the % Cr removals used in these comparisons for tests SX-101-5 and SY-102-5 are based on the dissolved Cr present as determined by chromate analysis, not by ICP-AES analysis as discussed above in Section 3.5.1.

Generally, the correlation is good with the exception of the 0% Cr removal (initial sludge) data point. The next two plots expand the correlation by excluding the unleached-solids data points. Note that now good linear correlations are found with both sludges between the % Cr removals and the ratio of ILHW/unit sludge generated based on either per unit of leached sludge or, more surprisingly, per unit of washed solids.



Figure 3.15. Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Washed Sludge-All Data



Figure 3.16. Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Leached Sludge-All Data

The primary consideration with respect to producing ILAW from the leachates generated by oxidative alkaline leaching is whether the glass will be a TRU waste or not. Table 3.10 evaluates the TRU content of ILAW glass (assuming a leachate loading of 21.5 weight percent Na₂O [Muller et al. 2004]) derived by the various TRU leachates generated during each individual leach step or by the combined leach steps in Tests #3 through 6.

It should be noted that these leachates include not only the leach solutions but the low hydroxide washings designed to remove components that might be present in the interstitial liquid after the initial leachate/solids separation. These wash-to-leachate solution ratios may have little relation to those used in any actual process. Still, the relatively high TRU concentrations found for ILAW based on a concerted caustic leach/oxidative leach, while not a TRU waste, are significantly higher than alternative processes based on sequential caustic leach/oxidative leach steps.

To summarize the results from the immobilized waste calculations, 1) chromium is the component limiting washed SY-102 and SX-101 loading in IHLW, 2) a simple caustic leaching provides little or no (SX-101) to a modest (SY-102) decrease in the amount of IHLW produced, 3) performing an



Figure 3.17. Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Washed Sludge—Selected Data

oxidative-alkaline leach at 85°C either at low hydroxide in combination with a caustic leach or concomitant with a caustic leach can eliminate chromium as the limiting component to waste-oxide loading in IHLW, and 4) the TRU activity in ILAW glass is less than the TRU limits of 100 nCi/g in all cases, although the use of concomitant standard caustic leach with a permanganate-based oxidative alkaline leach results in a markedly higher TRU content in the glass.



Figure 3.18. Comparison of % Cr Removal Versus Ratio of IHLW to Leached Sludge—Selected Data

Leachate Solution	nCi TRU/g ILAW	Leachate Solution	nCi TRU/g ILAW			
SX-101-1	37.4	SY-102-1	55.1			
SX-101-2	0.1	SY-102-2	0.9			
SX-101-3 ICL	0.1	SY-102-3 ICL	4.1			
SX-101-3 OL	1.2	SY-102-3 OL	3.5			
SX-101-3 C	0.3	SY-102-3 C	4.0			
SX-101-4 ICL	0.2	SY-102-4 ICL	4.5			
SX-101-4 OL	0.7	SY-102-4 OL	1.0			
SX-101-4 C	0.3	SY-102-4 C	3.9			
SX-101-5 OL	0.1	SY-102-5 OL	0.3			
SX-101-5 FCL	1.7	SY-102-5 FCL	7.0			
SX-101-5 C	0.8	SY-102-5 C	3.3			
SX-101-6 OL	2.0	SY-102-6 OL	2.0			
SX-101-6 FCL	4.2	SY-102-6 FCL	17.7			
SX-101-6 C	4.0	SY-102-6 C	14.7			
ICL = initial caustic leachate						
OL = oxidative leachate						
FCL = final caustic leachate						
C = combined alkaline leachates						

 Table 3.10.
 TRU Content of ILAW for Various Leachate Solutions

4.0 Summary and Conclusions

The focus of the work described in this report was to evaluate various alternative conditions for the selective removal of chromium through oxidative-alkaline leaching and then to provide recommendations for leach conditions to be used in the WTP. To accomplish this evaluation, previously reported chromium chemistry was reviewed as well as prior literature relevant to the oxidative-alkaline leaching of chromium from Hanford tank solids. From this review, a series of test conditions was chosen. These test conditions, unlike prior studies, were performed under leach conditions more closely resembling those likely to be used at the WTP.

From the literature review, permanganate was selected as the oxidant of choice. Six conditions were evaluated. The first leach condition involved contact of washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids with a slight stoichiometric excess of permanganate using the standard caustic-leach conditions of initial 3 M NaOH and a leach temperature of 85°C. The second leach condition involved contact of washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids with excess initial hydroxide (5 M) and excess permanganate. The third leach condition involved contact of washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids with excess initial hydroxide (5 M) and excess permanganate. The third leach condition involved contact of washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids with a slight stoichiometric excess of permanganate at lower initial hydroxide concentration (0.25 M) at 25°C. The fourth leach condition was similar to the third leach condition except that the oxidative leaching step was conducted at 85°C. A fifth leach condition involved contact of washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids initially with permanganate at lower initial hydroxide concentration (0.25 M) at 25°C, followed by treatment with the standard caustic-leach conditions of 3 M NaOH and 85°C. The sixth leach condition was similar to the third leach conditions of 3 M NaOH and 85°C. The sixth leach condition was similar to the third leach condition except that the initial oxidative leaching step was conducted at 85°C. These leach tests were performed at a targeted 3:1 volume of leachate-to-volume of settled tank solids.

Various analyses were performed to evaluate the leaching process. The initial solids were examined for selected metals content by ICP-AES, for TRU elements by AEA, and for gamma-emitting isotopes by GEA. The distribution of the major bulk components within individual solid particles was evaluated by SEM/EDS, and crystalline phases present were evaluated by XRD. For both the SX-101 and SY-102 washed solids, the major crystalline phase was gibbsite, Al(OH)₃. For SX-101, an uranium-containing phase, clarkeite, Na[(UO₂)(O)(OH)], was also observed. SEM-EDS analysis indicated that, with the exception of these phases, the major non-radioactive tank components tended to be evenly distributed throughout the solids, although some exceptions were noted.

In general, effective removal of chromium and aluminum was observed, with relatively little plutonium dissolution. Surprisingly, under the most extreme conditions of hydroxide, permanganate, and temperature, less effective aluminum, chromium, and plutonium removal is observed with respect to most of the other leach conditions.

Consistent with some earlier reports, adding permanganate under the standard caustic-leach conditions results in some enhancement in the fraction of dissolved plutonium. No significant amounts of any other TRU elements were detected in the leach solutions. Performing the oxidative leach at 85°C generally results in a slight enhancement of aluminum and chromium with little enhancement in dissolved plutonium. Generally, the kinetics of dissolution for chromium appear relatively rapid, with the bulk of

the dissolved chromium present in solution within the first 6 hours. However, in particular for the SX-101 tests, there is considerable scatter in the data. Plutonium dissolution also appears to be enhanced as a function of contact time.

A comparison of dissolved chromate to total chromium dissolved indicates, consistent with prior reports, that the bulk of the dissolved chromium is present as chromate. The oxidation state of the dissolved plutonium was not determined. In general, the total concentrations of dissolved TRU elements in the leachate solution are low enough such that even the leach solutions themselves, as well as the ILAW that would be generated from these leach solutions, are less than the TRU limits of 100 nCi/g. There is some evidence suggesting that reprecipitation of some TRU elements (plutonium) occurs during the cooling of the leachate solutions and/or the low hydroxide washings.

Overall, testing indicates that effective removal of aluminum and chromium is possible, with greater than 95% removals achievable. This is a remarkable result in view of the nature of the sludge as revealed by SEM-EDS analysis. In previous washed sludges with large quantities of chromium, SEM-EDS analysis has indicated that the chromium is generally present either in a pure chromium oxide phase or together with aluminum, another element generally well removed by caustic leaching. However, with SX-101 and SY-102, substantial iron and manganese appears to be mixed with the leachable metals aluminum and chromium. Despite the possibility then that chromium removal might be inhibited by the presence of these unleachable metals passivating the particle surface and making the chromium in the bulk of the sample inaccessible to oxidant, excellent removal of chromium was observed. Unfortunately due to resource limitations, a SEM-EDS examination of the leached solids was not performed.

An analysis of the waste-oxide loading of the washed sludges indicates that greater than an order of magnitude increases in waste-oxide loading are possible following oxidative-alkaline leaching for both the washed SX-101 and SY-102 tank solids. The analysis also suggests that a simple caustic leach (under the baseline WTP conditions) is much less effective at increasing waste-oxide loadings in IHLW and that performing oxidative-alkaline leaching, under several of the tested leach conditions, can remove chromium as the waste-oxide limiting component.

A previous summary of oxidative-alkaline leach testing of Hanford tank sludges concluded that a reduction of chromium to 5000 ppm or less was a defensible target (Sederburg 2003). Table 4.1 examines the residual chromium concentrations of the oxidatively leached SY-102 and SX-101 sludges.

	[Al], μg/g		[Cı	:], μg/g	[Fe], µg/g		
Treatment	SX-101	SY-102	SX-101	SY-102	SX-101	SY-102	
Washed	22900	171000	51500	73200	24800	59000	
Oxidative Leach - 1	32400	37100	6680	6940	83000	129000	
Oxidative Leach - 2	40500	48000	66600	91400	100000	141000	
Oxidative Leach - 3	116000	79300	17400	29600	68800	117000	
Oxidative Leach - 4	77500	78200	9310	7280	77700	114000	
Oxidative Leach - 5	50000	43700	16100	11600	86700	135000	
Oxidative Leach - 6	23900	40200	4890	5705	80500	127000	

Table 4.1.Aluminum, Chromium and Iron Concentrations in Washed SX-101 and SY-102Sludges Following Oxidative Alkaline Leaching

Only in one instance, test condition #6, do the residual chromium concentrations approach 5000 ppm for both sludges. Test conditions #1 and #4 are within a factor of two, with test condition #4 showing the higher residual concentrations of these leachable metals. Even so, the information provided in Table 3.9 indicates that the reductions in the aluminum and chromium concentrations found for test conditions #2, #4, and #6 are sufficient to remove both aluminum and chromium as the waste-oxide-limiting components.

These observations lead to the following recommendations for further study or implementation of oxidative-alkaline leaching:

- That the possibility of selective precipitation of Pu from a permanganate-containing leach using standing caustic leach conditions be investigated. The leaching of Al and Cr is effective and if Pu can be selectivity precipitated under time effective and process-compatible conditions, adverse impacts due to the additional time required in successive leach contacts may be avoided.
- 2) That until a process and time-compatable Pu dissolution process is documented, further studies should focus on oxidative-alkaline leach conditions that combine a standard caustic leach (3 M, 85°C) with an independent oxidative-alkaline leach performed at a lower initial hydroxide concentration. Because of an observed discrepancy between the chromate concentration and total chromium by ICP-AES analysis, it remains unclear whether or not elevated temperatures are required for the oxidative-alkaline leach in an independent caustic leach/oxidative-alkaline leach sequence.
- 3) That any oxidative-alkaline leach be performed at temperature for at least 6 hours.
- 4) That a larger scale demonstration be performed to evaluate the order of the initial caustic leach and the oxidative-alkaline leach.
- 5) That this demonstration should monitor the chromate concentration in solution, the aluminum concentration, and the plutonium concentration as a function of leach contact times.
- 6) That the oxidation state of the dissolved plutonium should be evaluated.
- 7) That a further bench-scale test of test conditions #3, #4, #5 and #6 be performed with the washed SX-101 and SY-102 sludge under the previous conditions characterized by larger solution:solids volumes. This will allow the chromium leach factors (% component removed values) reported in Table 3.6 to be correlated with the earlier oxidative-alkaline leach testing summarized in Sederburg (2003).

In summary, the results of the study indicate that oxidative-alkaline leaching of SX-101 and SY-102 sludges can be performed with extensive removal of the leachable metals aluminum and chromium with minimal concomitant dissolution of problematic radionuclides, specifically plutonium. The use of sequential standard caustic-leach conditions and an oxidative-alkaline leach of low hydroxide and elevated temperature yields a chromium leach factor of approximately 0.95 and can result in chromium no longer being the limiting component in waste-oxide loading into IHLW.

Appendix A

Leach Factors from SX-101 Testing

Component	SX-101-6	SX-101-5	SX-101-4	SX-101-3	SX-101-2	SX-101-1
Ag	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Al	96.7	96.8	88.9	82.7	95.6	95.8
²⁴¹ Am	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ba	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Bi	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ca	0.0	0.0	5.9	0.0	0.0	3.9
¹³⁷ Cs	28.9	37.9	32.7	32.5	33.2	26.9
Cd	12.5	21.0	0.0	6.6	0.0	6.0
⁶⁰ Co	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Cr	96.7	64.7	93.9	87.3	65.9	95.8
Cu	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
^{154&155} Eu	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Fe	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1
La	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Mg	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Mn	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Мо	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Na	98.3	98.4	97.4	97.2	98.3	96.7
Р	44.2	75.0	86.3	61.9	70.8	70.6
^{239,240} Pu	2.8	1.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	13.5
Si	66.8	55.0	50.5	45.5	43.4	41.9
Sn	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Sr	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ti	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
U	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Zn	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total α	0.7	0.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	3.2
Leach Factors are expressed here as a percentage. ND = Component Not Detected in Either Leach Solutions or Residue						

Appendix A: Leach Factors from SX-101 Testing

Appendix B

Leach Factors from SY-102 Testing

Component	SY-102-6	SY-102-5	SY-102-4	SY-102-3	SY-102-2	SY-102-1
Ag	5.5	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	8.8
Al	88.9	94.4	77.8	76.4	88.2	86.3
²⁴¹ Am	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ba	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Bi	1.3	4.6	1.9	1.7	1.9	0.5
Ca	1.3	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
¹³⁷ Cs	36.6	41.0	41.0	40.0	37.3	22.4
Cd	1.3	4.0	0.0	0.5	1.1	0.8
⁶⁰ Co	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Cr	95.9	74.9	95.2	79.9	46.2	93.5
Cu	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
^{154&155} Eu	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Fe	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0
La	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Mg	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Mn	0.0	0.0	0.0	63.1	0.0	0.0
Мо	100.0	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
Na	94.9	97.7	96.6	96.0	97.6	94.0
Р	18.8	19.4	26.9	36.6	13.1	5.4
^{239,240} Pu	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.6
Si	27.9	30.9	35.7	31.4	22.4	17.1
Sn	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Sr	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ti	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
U	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Zn	0.0	43.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Total α	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1
Leach Factors are expressed here as a percentage. ND = Component Not Detected in Either Leach Solutions or Residue						

Appendix B: Leach Factors from SY-102 Testing

The components listed above were selected in the following manner. The list of analytical requirements from Test Specification 24590-PTF-TSP-RT-03-003, Rev 0, "Ultrafiltration and Washing/Leaching of Hanford Tank 241-SY-102 Waste" was reviewed. Since both solution and solids data are required to measure a leach factor, components that were not required for both the solid and solution measurements were discarded. When the element's leach factor could be evaluated by either radiochemical or chemical analysis, the more sensitive method (radiochemical except for uranium) is used. When an element's leach factor was determined by radiochemical methods, the isotope information

is supplied. When information is obtained for a combination of multiple isotopes (such as with ^{239,240}Pu), a comma is used to separate the isotopes present in the measurement. If independent measurements on several isotopes were made with identical results (such as with ¹⁵⁴Eu and ¹⁵⁵Eu) a "&" sign is used.

Distribution

No. of Copies

OFFSITE

No. of Copies

ONSITE

 <u>Savannah River National Laboratory</u> Richard Edwards Westinghouse SA Aiken, South Carolina 29808-0001

11 Battelle—Pacific Northwest Division

	J. G. H. Geeting	P7-28
	G. J. Lumetta	P7-22
	B. M. Rapko (2)	P7-25
	S. I. Sinkov	P7-25
	J. D. Vienna	K6-24
	D. E. Kurath	P7-28
	Project File (2)	P7-28
	Information Release (2)	K1-06
4	Bechtel National, Inc.	
	S. M. Barnes	H4-02
	J. Doyle (2)	H4-02
	P. S. Sundar	H4-02